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NOTICE  
 

Notice is hereby given that the 36th (Thirty-Sixth) Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders of VR 

Dakshin Private Limited will be held on Monday, the 04th day of September 2023, at 02:00 P.M at its 

Registered Office of the Company situated at VR Bengaluru, No. 11b, Sy No. 40/9, Devasandra Industrial 

Area, 2nd Stage, Kr. Puram Hobli Bengaluru-560048, Karnataka, to transact the following business: 

ORDINARY BUSINESS: 

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Annual Financial Statements of the Company for the 

financial year ended on 31st March 2023 together with the Report of the Board of Directors and 

Auditors thereon. 

 

To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an Ordinary Resolution: 

 

“RESOLVED THAT the annual financial statements comprising of Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2023 

and the Statement of Profit and Loss Account along with Cash Flow Statement of the Company for the 

year ended on 31st March 2023 including with the schedules and notes attached thereto, together with the 

report of the Auditors and the Board of Directors thereon, placed before the meeting, be and are hereby 

approved and adopted.” 

 

 

Date: August 9, 2023 

Place: Gurugram 

By Order of the Board of Directors 

For VR Dakshin Private Limited 

 

 

 

Rashmi Sharma 

Company Secretary 

Membership no.: A42988 
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NOTES: 

1. A MEMBER ENTITLED TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT 36th ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

(“AGM” or “Meeting”) OF THE COMPANY IS ENTITLED TO APPOINT A PROXY TO ATTEND 

AND VOTE INSTEAD OF HIMSELF OR HERSELF. A PROXY NEED NOT BE A MEMBER OF 

THE COMPANY. A person can act as a Proxy on behalf of Members not exceeding 50 (fifty) and 

holding in aggregate not more than 10% (ten percent) of the total share capital of the Company. However, 

a Member holding more than 10% of the total share capital of the Company may appoint a single person 

as a Proxy and such person shall not act as a Proxy for any other Member. 

 

2. A Proxy Form is sent herewith. In case any Member wants to appoint a Proxy, duly completed and 

stamped Proxy Form, must reach the Registered Office of the Company not later than 48 hours before the 

time for holding the aforesaid Meeting. 

 

3. Corporate Member intending to send its authorised representatives to attend the Meeting in terms of 

Section 113 of the Companies Act, 2013 is requested to send to the Company a certified copy of the 

Board Resolution authorizing such representative to attend and vote on its behalf at the Meeting. 

 

4. Members/Proxies/Authorised Representatives are requested to bring the attendance slips duly filled in for 

attending the Meeting. Members who hold shares in dematerialised form are requested to write their 

client ID and DP ID numbers and those who hold shares in physical form are requested to write their 

Folio Number in the attendance slip for attending the Meeting. 

 

5. The Annual Report for the financial year ended 31st March 2023 comprising of the Financial Statement 

together with the Report of the Board of Directors and Auditors thereon, is annexed hereto.  

 

6. Members seeking any information or clarification on the Financial Statements are requested to send 

written queries to the Company, atleast seven days before the date of the Meeting to enable the 

management to keep the required information available at the Meeting. 

 

7. All documents referred to in the accompanying Notice and the Explanatory Statement along with the 

Statutory Registers maintained by the Company as per the Companies Act, 2013 shall be open for 

inspection at the Registered Office of the Company during normal business hours (9:30 AM to 6:30 PM) 

on all working days, (except Saturday) up to and including the date of the AGM of the Company and also 

will be available for inspection by the Members at the AGM venue. 

 

8. The route map of the venue of the Annual General Meeting is enclosed and forms part of the Notice of 

this meeting. 
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ROUTE MAP 
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Form No. MGT-11 

PROXY FORM 

[Pursuant to Section 105(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 19(3) of the 

Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014] 

 

 

CIN : U74899KA1987PTC070519 

Name of the Company : VR Dakshin Private Limited 

Registered Office : VR Bengaluru, No. 11b, Sy No. 40/9, Devasandra Industrial Area, 2nd Stage, 

KR. Puram Hobli Bangalore, Karnataka-560048  

   

Name of the member (s) :  

Registered Address :  

E-mail Id :  

Folio No/ Client Id :  

DP Id :  

 

I/We, being the member (s) ……………….…… of the above named Company, hereby appoint:  

 

1. Name: ……………………     2. Name: ……………………  

    Address:           Address: 

    E-mail Id:           E-mail Id: 

    Signature: ………………, or failing him      Signature: ………………………. 

      

as my/our proxy to attend and vote (on a poll) for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 36th Annual General 

Meeting of the Company, to be held on Monday, the 04th day of September 2023, at 02:00 P.M at its 

Registered Office of the Company situated at VR Bengaluru, No. 11b, Sy No. 40/9, Devasandra Industrial 

Area, 2nd Stage, Kr. Puram Hobli Bengaluru, Bangalore-560048, Karnataka and at any adjournment thereof in 

respect of such resolutions as are indicated below:  

 

Item 

No. 

Resolution 

1.  To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Annual Financial Statements of the Company for the 

financial year ended on 31st March 2023 together with the Report of the Board of Directors and 

Auditors thereon 

 

Signed this…… day of……… 2023    

 

 

Signature of Shareholder  

 

 

Signature of Proxy Holder(s)  

 

Note: This form of proxy in order to be effective should be duly completed and deposited at the Registered 

Office of the Company, not less than 48 hours before the commencement of the Meeting.

Affix 

Revenue 

Stamp 
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  ATTENDANCE SLIP 

 

I hereby record my presence at the 36th Annual General Meeting of the Shareholders of VR Dakshin Private 

Limited held on Monday, the 04th day of September 2023, at 02:00 P.M at its Registered Office of the 

Company situated at VR Bengaluru, No. 11b, Sy No. 40/9, Devasandra Industrial Area, 2nd Stage, Kr. Puram 

Hobli Bengaluru-560048, Karnataka.  

 

Full Name of Shareholder/ Proxy (in BLOCK LETTER)   

 

 

Address in Full  

 

 

DP ID  

 

Client ID  

 

Shares held  

 

 

 

 

 

        (Shareholder/Proxy) 

 

*Strike out whichever is not applicable  

 

NOTE: Members who have multiple folios may use copies of this attendance slip. Only Shareholders of the 

Company or their Proxies will be allowed to attend the Meeting. 

 

 

6



 
 

 

 

 

VR Dakshin Private Limited | Annual Report FY 2022-23 

 

BOARD’S REPORT 
 

Dear Members, 

 

The Board of Directors (“Board”) are pleased to present the 36th Annual Report of VR Dakshin Private 

Limited (formerly Sugam Vanijya Holdings Private Limited) together with Audited Financial Statement of 

the Company for the financial year ended on 31st March 2023 (“FY 2022-23”). 

 

1. FINANCIAL SUMMARY OR HIGHLIGHTS  

(INR in Millions) 

Particulars 
Year Ended 

31st March 2023 

Year Ended 

31st March 2022 

Revenue from Operations 1,982.06 1,735.64 

Other Income 57.89 60.50 

Total Income 2,039.95 1,796.14 

Total Expenditure 2,966.01 2,773.57 

Profit / (Loss) before tax (926.06) (977.43) 

Less: Tax Expenses 9.06 (0.23) 

Profit / (Loss) after tax (935.11) (977.20) 

Other Comprehensive Income 0.97 0.54 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year (934.14) (976.66) 

Earning per share (EPS) 

Basic and Diluted 
(42,714) (44,637) 

 

The Company does not have any subsidiaries, associates and joint venture, therefore, the Company 

was not required to prepare a consolidated financial statement. 

 

2. STATE OF COMPANY’S AFFAIRS 

 

The present state of the Company’s affairs is progressive enough viz-a-viz the industry and there are 

no developments which could result in an adverse situation for the Company in the near future. There 

is no change in the nature of business of the Company and no significant or material orders were 

passed by any regulator or court or tribunal impacting the going concern status of the Company’s 

future operations. 

 

3. CHANGE IN NATURE OF BUSINESS  

 

During the FY 2022-23, there was no change in the nature of business of the Company. 

  

4. MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS 

 

The following material changes/commitments affecting the financial position of the Company have 

been occurred between the end of the financial year ended on 31st March 2023 and the date of the 

report: 
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i. The Company has repaid and redeemed the following Non-Convertible Debentures (NCD) 

including all interest, fees, cost and expenses in relating to the NCD on 18th April 2023: 

a. 1,675 Non-Convertible Debentures of face value of INR 10,00,000/- amounting to INR 

167,50,00,000/- bearing ISIN: INE084S07023 issued to Deutsche Bank AG; and 

b. 3,050 Non-Convertible Debentures of face value of INR 10,00,000/- amounting to INR 

3,05,00,00,000/- bearing ISIN: INE084S07015 issued to Standard Chartered Bank. 

 

ii. The Company has allotted the following rated, listed, redeemable, Non-Convertible Bonds on a 

private placement basis on 18th April 2023: 

a. 26,800 non-convertible bonds of face value of INR 1,00,000/- each, aggregating an 

amount of INR 268,00,00,000 (“Series 1 Bonds”) issued to Deutsche Bank AG;  

b. 19,100 non-convertible bonds of face value of INR 1,00,000/- each, aggregating an 

amount of INR 191,00,00,000 (“Series 2 Bonds”) issued to DB International Asia 

Limited; and  

c. 29,100 non-convertible bonds of face value of INR 1,00,000/- each, aggregating an 

amount of INR 291,00,00,000 (“Series 3 Bonds”) issued to Standard Chartered Bank. 

 

5. SHARE CAPITAL & DEBENTURE 

 

a. Share Capital 

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Company. As on 31st March 2023, the 

Authorised Share Capital of the Company stand at INR 15,00,000/- and Issued & Paid-up Share 

Capital of the Company stand at INR 1,99,900/-.  

 

b. Non-Convertible Debentures/Bonds 

The Company has allotted the 700 Unsecured, Unlisted, Redeemable, Non-Convertible Debentures 

and 600 Unsecured, Unlisted, Redeemable, Non-Convertible Debentures having the Face Value of 

Rs. 1,00,000/- each to Robusta Holdings Pte. Ltd. on 21st June 2022 and 7th July 2022 respectively.  

 

As on 31st March 2023, following are the Debentures/Bonds: 

i. 1,675 Secured, Listed, Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures of face value of INR 

10,00,000/- issued to Deutsche Bank AG;  

ii. 3,050 Secured, Listed, Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures of face value of INR 

10,00,000/- issued to Standard Chartered Bank; 

iii. 448 Unsecured, Listed, Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures of face value of INR 

1,00,00,000/- issued to Robusta Holdings Pte. Ltd; 

iv. 1300 Unsecured, Unlisted, Redeemable, Non-Convertible Debentures having the Face Value 

of Rs. 1,00,000/- each in two tranches issued to Robusta Holdings Pte. Ltd.; 

v. 190,227,500 Unsecured, Fully Compulsory Convertible Debentures having the Face Value of 

Rs. 10/- each issued to Moribus Holdings Pte. Ltd. 

 

6. DEBENTURE TRUSTEE 

 

The details of Debenture Trustee for the above mentioned NCDs are as under: 

 

i. Catalyst Trusteeship Limited  

Address: GDA House, First Floor, Plot No. 85, S. No. 94 & 95, Bhusari Colony (Right), Kothrud, 

Pune- 411038, Maharashtra  

Contact No.: 022-49220555 | Fax No.: 022-49220505 

Email Id: ComplianceCTL-Mumbai@ctltrustee.com | Website: www.catalysttrustee.com 
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ii. IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited 

Address: Asian Building, Ground Floor, 17, R. Kamani Marg Ballard Estate, Fort Mumbai  

Contact No.: +91 22 40807000 | Fax No.: 022 66311776 

Email Id itsl@idbitrustee.com | Website: www.idbitrustee.com  

 

7. CREDIT RATING 

 

The Company had the following credit rating for its borrowing instruments: 

 

Instruments Agencies Rating Outlook Date 

1,675 Secured, Listed, 

Redeemable Non-Convertible 

Debentures 

ICRA Limited BBB Stable 1st March 2023 

3,050 Secured, Listed, 

Redeemable Non-Convertible 

Debentures 

ICRA Limited BBB Stable 1st March 2023 

448 Unsecured, Listed, 

Redeemable Non-Convertible 

Debentures 

Crisil Ratings 

Limited 
BBB Negative 5th April 2023 

75000 Unsecured, Fully 

Compulsory Convertible 

Debentures 

ICRA Limited BBB Stable 1st March 2023 

 

8. DIVIDEND 

 

In view of losses, the Board of Directors of the Company has not recommended any dividend on the 

equity shares for the financial year ended 31st March 2023. 

 

9. RESERVES 

 

The Company has incurred a loss therefore no amount has been transferred to reserve.  

 

10. DEPOSITS 

 

During the FY 2022-23, the Company has not accepted any deposits within the meaning of Section 73 

of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014. 

 

11. HOLDING/SUBSIDIARY/JOINT VENTURES/ASSOCIATE COMPANIES 

 

M/s. Moribus Holdings Pte. Ltd. is the Holding Company. The Company doesn’t have any Subsidiary, 

Associate and Joint Venture for the financial year ended on 31st March 2023. 

 

12. DIRECTORS & KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL 

 

a. Board Composition  

The composition of the Board of Directors as on 31st March 2023, are as follows: 

i. Mr. Tariq Chinoy, Nominee Director (Chairman) 

ii. Mr. Pradeep Banerjee, Nominee Director 

iii. Ms. Sumi Gupta, Independent Director 
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iv. Mr. Sanjeev Jain, Independent Director 

v. Mr. Rohan Anand, Executive Director 

vi. Mr. Jay Dayani, Executive Director 

 

During the FY 2022-23, the following changes have occurred in the composition of the Board: 

S. 

No. 

Name of Director/KMP Designation Date of Change Reason for 

Change 

1 Mr. Anuj Duseja Director 15th June 2022 Cessation 

2 Mr. Jay Dayani Additional Director 6th July 2022 Appointment 

3 Mr. Rohan Anand Additional Director 18th October 2022 Appointment 

4 Mr. Jay Dayani Director 23rd December 2022 Change in 

Designation 

5 Mr. Rohan Anand Director 23rd December 2022 Change in 

Designation 

6 Mr. Pradeep Banerjee Nominee Director 10th March 2023 Appointment 

7 Ms. Sumi Gupta Director 30th March 2023 Cessation 

8 Ms. Sumi Gupta Independent Director 31st March 2023 Appointment 

9 Mr. Sanjeev Jain Independent Director 31st March 2023 Appointment 

 

b. Key Managerial Personnel  

The following are the Key Managerial Personnel of the Company as on 31st March 2023: 

i. Mr. Rajendra Pai, Manager & Chief Financial Offer 

ii. Ms. Rashmi Sharma, Company Secretary & Compliance Officer 

 

13. DECLARATION BY INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 

 

The Company has appointed Ms. Sumi Gupta and Mr. Sanjeev Jain w.e.f. 31st March 2023, as an 

Independent Directors of the Company. Both the directors have confirmed their independency under 

Section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013. 

 

Further, in terms of Section 150 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 6 of the Companies 

(Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014, the Independent Directors of the Company 

have confirmed that they have registered themselves with the databank maintained by the Indian 

Institute of Corporate Affairs. Therefore, the Board is of the opinion that the Independent Directors are 

persons of integrity, possess relevant expertise, experience, proficiency, fulfil the conditions of 

independence specified in the Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI Listing Regulations. 

 

14. MEETINGS OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

Fourteen meetings of the Board of Directors were held during FY 2022-23 and the requisite quorum 

was present in all the meeting. The gap between two meetings did not exceed one hundred twenty 

days. 

 

15. BOARD EVALUATION 

 

The annual evaluation of the performance of the Board, its committee pursuant to the provision of 

Section 134(3)(p) of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable to the Company. However, the Board 

expressed satisfaction on overall functioning of the Board, and the performance of the individual 

Directors. 
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16. BOARD COMMITTEES 

 

a. Audit Committee 

Pursuant to Regulation 18 of the Securities & Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 

Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Company has constituted the Audit Committee 

effective from 31st March 2023, comprising three non-executive directors, i.e. Ms. Sumi Gupta 

(Chairperson), Mr. Sanjeev Jain and Mr. Tariq Chinoy. There was no meeting were held during the 

financial year. 

 

b. Nomination & Remuneration Committee 

Pursuant to Regulation 19 of the Securities & Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 

Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Company has constituted the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee effective from 31st March 2023, comprising three non-executive 

directors, i.e. Ms. Sumi Gupta (Chairperson), Mr. Sanjeev Jain and Mr. Tariq Chinoy. There was 

no meeting were held during the financial year. 

 

The Remuneration policy covers the remuneration for the Directors and other employees (under 

senior management cadre and management cadre). The Policy has been formulated with the 

following key objectives: 

 

i. To ensure that employee remuneration is in alignment with business strategy & objectives, 

organisation values and long-term interests of the organisation. 

ii. To ensure objectivity, fairness and transparency in determination of employees’ 

remuneration.  

iii. To ensure the level and composition of remuneration are reasonable and sufficient to attract, 

retain and motivate a high-performance workforce and are in compliance with all applicable 

laws. 

 

It covers various heads of remuneration including benefits for Directors and employees. It also covers 

the process followed with respect to annual performance reviews and variables considered for revision 

in the remuneration.  

 

17. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

 

The Company does not fall in any of the criteria laid down in section 135(1) of the Companies Act, 

2013 and rules made thereunder and therefore the Company is not required to comply with the relevant 

provisions of the said section during the year under review.  

 

18. STATUTORY AUDITOR 

 

M/s. S R Batliboi & Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration No.101049W/ 

E300004) were reappointed in the Annual General Meeting held on 23rd December 2022, as the 

Statutory Auditors of the Company for a period of 5 years i.e. from the Annual General Meeting 

conducted for the year ended 2022 until the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting to be held in 

2027. 

 

 

 

 

11



 
 

 

 

 

VR Dakshin Private Limited | Annual Report FY 2022-23 

 

19. SECRETARIAL AUDITOR 

 

The Company has appointed M/s. Sourav & Associates, to conduct the Secretarial Audit of the 

Company for the FY 2022-23 in their Board Meeting held on 15th February 2023.  

 

The Secretarial Audit Report for the financial year ended 31st March 2023 shall be annexed as 

Annexure A. The Secretarial Audit Report issued by the Secretarial Auditor contains the following 

observation: 

 

S. No. Observation Explanation 

1 The Company being a debt listed entity listed 

entity shall make necessary/mandatory 

disclosures under various regulations of SEBI 

(LODR) Regulations, 2015, however, the 

Company made delayed filing of disclosures 

under regulations 6(1), 7(1), 13(3), 50(1), 

52(1), 54(2), 52(4), 54(2), 57(4), 57(5) and 62.  

In this regards, BSE Limited had imposed fines 

for not complying with aforesaid Regulations, 

which has been paid by the company in 

prescribed manner and within the provided 

timelines and the said compliance have been 

regularised subsequently. 

The Company has duly paid these fines 

within the stipulated time frame and in 

accordance with the prescribed methods. 

Subsequently, the necessary compliance 

measures have been rectified and 

complied. 

 

2 As per Section 96 of the Companies Act, 2013, 

Every Company, in each year, shall hold its 

Annual General Meeting within a period of six 

months, from the date of closing of the 

financial year, however, for 35th Annual 

General Meeting for the Financial Year 2021-

22, the Company had applied for extension of 

time to ROC for holding AGM after due date 

and got approval for two months i.e. till 30th 

November, 2022. Whereas, the said AGM was 

held on 23rd December, 2022. 

 The delay in convening the Annual 

General Meeting (AGM) was primarily 

attributed to unexpected challenges 

encountered during the auditing process. 

Complexities arose during the audit, 

requiring additional time to ensure 

accurate and comprehensive financial 

reporting. The Board of Directors 

acknowledges the significance of timely 

AGM conduct and assures that all 

necessary steps have been taken to 

prevent such delays in the future. 

 

 

20. AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

The Auditors’ Report does not contain any qualification, reservation or adverse remark. The notes on 

financial statement referred to in the Auditors’ Report are self-explanatory and do not call for any 

further explanation and comments. 

 

21. REPORTING OF FRAUDS BY AUDITORS 

 

During the year under review, no instances of fraud were reported by the Statutory Auditors of the 

Company under Section 143(12) of the Companies Act, 2013. 

 

22. MAINTENANCE OF COST RECORDS  

 

Your Company doesn’t fall under the classes of companies as specified under Section 148(1) of the 

Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 3 of the Companies (Cost Records and Audit) Rules, 2014. 
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Accordingly, the Company is not required to maintain Cost Records as specified by the Central 

Government. 

 

23. INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL 

 

The statutory auditors, in their audit report have given disclaimer of opinion on internal financial 

controls however your directors believe that the Company has put in place internal financial control 

systems, commensurate with the size of the Company and nature of its business. Taking cognizance of 

the significance of the system & its impact on the growth & objectives of the Company, the Board & 

the Management of the Company are striving continuously for ensuring more stringent and effective 

internal financial control system for the Company. 

 

The Observation related to Internal Financial Control is mentioned under the Disclaimer of Opinion in 

Auditor’s Report. 

 

S. No. Observation Explanation 

1 The Company has not established its internal 

financial control with reference to financial 

statements on criteria based on or considering the 

essential components of internal control stated in 

the Guidance Note issued by ICAI. Because of 

this reason, we are unable to obtain sufficient 

appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for 

our opinion whether the Company had adequate 

internal financial controls with reference to 

financial statements as at 31st March 2023 and 

whether such internal financial controls were 

operating effectively. Accordingly, we do not 

express an opinion on Internal Financial Controls 

with reference to these financial statements. 

The Company has established & 

operating Internal Financial Controls as 

per the Industry standards, however 

certain additional control mechanism 

needs to be incorporated in the existing 

control to meet the criteria based on or 

considering the essential components of 

internal control stated in the Guidance 

Note issued by ICAI. 

 

24. RISK MANAGEMENT  

 

Risk is an integral part of any business and almost every decision requires the management to balance 

risk and reward. The Company is exposed to a variety of risks, including liquidity risk, interest rate 

risk, market risk, credit risk, operational risk, technology risk, operational risk, regulatory and 

compliance risk, reputational risk, business continuity risk, legal risk and competition risk. Risk 

Management is continuous process and Company is constantly monitoring its applicable risk and seek 

modern and scientific methods to mitigate the same. Further, the Company had constituted the Risk 

Management Committee to monitor and evaluate the same. 

 

25. ANNUAL RETURN 

 

In accordance with the provisions of Section 92(3) read with Section 134(3)(a) of the Companies Act, 

2013, the Annual Return for the financial year ended 31st March 2023 is available on the website of 

the Company at www.vrdakshin.com. 
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26. CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN 

EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO 

 

a. Conservation of Energy 

The Company’s operations are not energy-intensive and as such involve low energy consumption.  

However, adequate measures have been taken to conserve the consumption of energy.  

 

b. Technology Absorption  

Operations of the Company do not involve any kind of special technology and there was no 

expenditure on research & development during this financial year. However, your Company 

continues to upgrade its technology (computer te chnology and telecom infrastructure) in 

ensuring it is connected with its clients across the globe.  

 

c. Foreign Exchange Earnings and outgo 

The Foreign Exchange earnings and outgo for the FY 2022-23 are as follows.: 

(INR in Millions) 

Particulars FY 2022-23 FY 2021-22 

Foreign Exchange Earnings Nil Nil 

Foreign Exchange Outgo Nil Nil 

 

27. DISCLOSURE UNDER THE PREVENTION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT 

WORKPLACE (PREVENTION, PROHIBITION AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013  

 

During the financial year under review, the Company has the policy in lines with the requirements of 

the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 and 

the Company has complied with the provisions relating to the constitution of Internal Complaints 

Committees to redress complaints, if any, received regarding sexual harassment. 

 

During the financial year 2022-23, no complaints were received from any of the employees. 

 

28. PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES, SECURITIES OR INVESTMENTS  

 

The Company has not given any loans, guarantees, provided any securities and made any investments, 

during the year under review. Also, the details of loan, guarantee, investments made during the 

financial year ended 31st March 2023, are provided in the financial statements annexed to this Annual 

Report. 

 

29. PARTICULARS OF CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 

All contracts / arrangements / transactions entered by the Company during the financial year ended 

31st March 2023 with related parties were in the ordinary course of business and on an arm’s length 

basis, pursuant to the Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013. The Related Party Transactions are 

being reported in the requisite Form AOC–2 is annexed as Annexure B. 

 

30. VIGIL MECHANISM 

 

The Company has established a vigil mechanism and overseas the genuine concerns expressed by the 

employees and other Directors. The Company has also provided adequate safeguards against 

victimization of employees and Directors who express their concerns. The Company has also provided 
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direct access to one of the Directors authorized by the Board, on reporting issues concerning the 

interests of employees and the Company. 

 

31. PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES 

 

No employee, Directors and Key Managerial Personnel of the Company was in receipt of 

remuneration in excess of the amount specified in Section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with 

rule 5 of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, and 

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 

2015 during the year under review. 

 

As the Company is not considered as a listed company (as only NCDs are listed and not the equity 

shares), the provisions of Section 197 of the Act read with rule 5(1) of the Companies (Appointment 

and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 pertaining to disclosure of remuneration 

related details of the employees are not applicable to the Company and hence details thereof are not 

furnished in this report. 

 

32. SECRETARIAL STANDARDS 

 

The Company has complied with all the applicable secretarial standards issued by Institute of 

Company Secretaries of India (ICSI) on Meeting of the Board as well as General Meeting. 

 

33. PROCEEDING UNDER THE INSOLVENCY AND BANKRUPTCY CODE, 2016  

 

During the year under review, there were no proceedings initiated/pending by or against your 

Company under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016 which has materially impact the business 

of the Company. 

 

34. DETAILS OF DIFFERENCE BETWEEN AMOUNT OF THE VALUATION DONE AT THE 

TIME OF ONE TIME SETTLEMENT AND THE VALUATION DONE WHILE TAKING 

LOAN FROM THE BANKS OR FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS ALONG WITH THE 

REASONS THEREOF 

 

The provision related to the difference between the amounts of the valuation done at the time of one-

time settlement and valuation done while taking loan from Bank(s) or Financial Institution(s) does not 

apply to your Company. 

 

35. SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS  

 

During the FY 2022-23, there were no significant and material orders passed by the 

regulators/courts/tribunals, which have impact on the going concern status and Company’s operations 

in future. 

 

36. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

 

In accordance with the provisions of Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 the Board hereby 

submit its responsibility Statement: 

 

i. In the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting standards had been followed 

along with proper explanation relating to material departures; 
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ii. The Directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 

judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the 

state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year and of the loss of the Company for 

that period; 

iii. The Directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting 

records in accordance with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company 

and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities; 

iv. The Directors had prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis; and 

v. The Directors had laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the Company and that 

such internal financial controls are adequate and were operating effectively; and  

vi. The Directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all 

applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively. 

 

37. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

 

Your Directors place on record their sincere thanks to bankers, business associates, consultants, and 

various Government Authorities for their continued support extended to your Companies activities 

during the year under review. Your Directors also acknowledges gratefully the shareholders for their 

support and confidence reposed in your Company. 

 

 

For and on behalf of the Board  

VR Dakshin Private Limited  

 

 

      

Rohan Anand 

Director  

(DIN: 09539295) 

Date: August 9, 2023  

Place: Gurugram 

Jay Dayani 

Director  

(DIN: 09663289) 

Date: August 9, 2023 

Place: Gurugram 
 

 

Sd/- Sd/-
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Annexure A 

 

FORM MR-3 

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED ON 31ST MARCH, 2023 

[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No.9 of the Companies (Appointment and 

Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014] 

 

To 

The Members 

VR DAKSHIN PRIVATE LIMITED 

Formerly known as Sugam Vanijya Holdings Private Limited  

CIN: U74899KA1987PTC070519  

VR Bengaluru, No. 11B, SY No. 40/9, 

Devasandra Industrial Area, 2 Stage,  

Kr. Puram Hobli Bangalore -560048 

 

We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and the adherence 

to good corporate practices by VR Dakshin Private Limited (hereinafter called the ‘Company’) for the 

financial year ended 31st March, 2023. Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a 

reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing my opinion 

thereon.  

 

Based on our verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other 

records maintained by the Company and also the information provided by the Company, its officers, agents 

and authorized representatives during the conduct of secretarial audit, We hereby report that in our opinion, the 

Company has, during the audit period covering the financial year ended on 31st March, 2023, complied with 

the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company has proper Board-processes and 

compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made hereinafter: 

 

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by 

the Company for the financial year ended on 31st March, 2023 according to the provisions of: 

 

i. The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder; 

 

ii. The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and the rules made thereunder; 

 

iii. The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed thereunder; 

 

iv. Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder to the extent 

of Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External Commercial Borrowings. [Not 

Applicable to the Company during the Audit period under review except provisions related to annul 

return of Foreign Liabilities & Assets]; 

 

v. The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange Board of 

India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’):- 

 

a. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and 

Takeovers) Regulations, 2011 including the provisions with regard to disclosures and 

maintenance of records required under the said Regulations [Not Applicable to the Company 

during the Audit period under review]; 
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b. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 

2015; 

 

c. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) 

Regulations, 2018 [Not Applicable to the Company during the Audit period under review]; 

 

d. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Non Convertible Securities) 

Regulations, 2021; 

 

e. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits and Sweat 

Equity) Regulations, 2021 [Not Applicable to the Company during the Audit period under 

review]; 

 

f. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer 

Agents) Regulations, 1993 regarding the Companies Act, 2013 and dealing with client to the 

extent of the securities issued [Not Applicable to the Company during the Audit period under 

review]; 

 

g. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 2021 

[Not Applicable to the Company during the Audit period under review]; and 

 

h. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 2018 [Not 

Applicable to the Company during the Audit period under review]; 

 

vi. Other laws applicable specifically to the Company namely: NA 

 

We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following: 

 

(i) Secretarial Standards (SS-1 & SS-2) issued by The Institute of Company Secretaries of India on 

Meetings of the Board and General Meetings. 

 

(ii) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirements) 

Regulations, 2015;  

 

During the period under review the Company has generally complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, 

Regulations, Guidelines, Standards, etc. mentioned above. 

 

We have not examined Compliance with respect to applicable financial laws, like direct and indirect tax laws, 

since the same have been subject to review by statutory financial audit and other designated professionals. 

 

During the period under review the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations, 

Guidelines, Standards, etc. mentioned above except following:- 

 

➢ The Company being a debt listed entity listed entity shall make necessary/mandatory disclosures 
under various regulations of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015, however, the Company made delayed 

filing of disclosures under regulations 6(1), 7(1), 13(3), 50(1), 52(1), 54(2), 52(4), 54(2), 57(4), 57(5) 
and 62.  In this regards, BSE Limited had imposed fines for not complying with aforesaid Regulations, 

which has been paid by the company in prescribed manner and within the provided timelines and the 

said compliance have been regularised subsequently. 
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➢ As per Section 96 of the Companies Act, 2013, Every Company, in each year, shall hold its Annual 

General Meeting within a period of six months, from the date of closing of the financial year,  

 

however, for 35th Annual General Meeting for the Financial Year 2021-22, the Company had applied 
for extension of time to ROC for holding AGM after due date and got approval for two months i.e. till 

30th November, 2022. Whereas, the said AGM was held on 23rd December, 2022.  
 

We further report that: 

 

Adequate notices were given to all directors to schedule the Board Meetings. Agenda and detailed notes on 

agenda were sent in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, and a system exists for 

seeking and obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting and for 

meaningful participation at the meeting. 

 

All decisions at Board Meetings were carried with requisite majority as recorded in the minutes of the 

meetings of the Board of Directors. 

 

As per the records, the Company has generally filed all the returns, documents and resolutions, forms, as were 

required to be filed with the Registrar of Companies and other authorities and all the formalities relating to the 

same is generally in compliance with the Act. 

 

We further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the company commensurate with the size 

and operations of the company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and 

guidelines. 

 

 

 

Place: New Delhi                  

Date: August 9, 2023       for M/s Sourav & Associates 

Company Secretaries 

 

 

Sd/- 

CS Sourav 

 (Proprietor) 

Practicing Company Secretary 

ACS No. 46883; CP No. 21259 

         UDIN: A046883E000771521 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note: This report is to be read with our letter of even date which is annexed as “ANNEXURE A” and forms an 

integral part if this report.  
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Annexure A 

 

 

To 

The Members 

VR DAKSHIN PRIVATE LIMITED 

Formerly known as Sugam Vanijya Holdings Private Limited  

CIN: U74899KA1987PTC070519  

VR Bengaluru, No. 11B, SY No. 40/9, 

Devasandra Industrial Area, 2 Stage,  

Kr. Puram Hobli Bangalore -560048 

 

Our report of even date is to be read along with this letter. 

 

(1) Maintenance of secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the Company. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records based on our audit. 

 

(2) We have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance 

about the correctness of the contents of the Secretarial records.  The verification was done on test basis 

to ensure that correct facts are reflected in secretarial records. We believe that the processes and 

practices, we followed provide a reasonable basis for my opinion. 

 

(3) We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and Books of Accounts of 

the Company. 

 

(4) Where ever required, we have obtained the Management representation about the compliance of laws, 

rules and regulations and happening of events etc. 

 

(5) The compliance of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards is 

the responsibility of management. Our examination was limited to the verification of procedures on test 

basis. 

 

(6) The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the 

efficacy or effectiveness with which the management as conducted the affairs of the Company. 

 

 

 

Place: New Delhi                  

Date: August 9, 2023          for Sourav & Associates 

Company Secretaries 

 

 

Sd/- 

CS Sourav 

 (Proprietor) 

Practicing Company Secretary 

ACS No. 46883; CP No. 21259 

              UDIN: A046883E000771521 
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  Annexure B 

FORM NO. AOC-2 

(Pursuant to Section 134(3)(h) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 8(2) of the Companies 

(Accounts) Rules, 2014) 

 

a) Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis: Not applicable 

 

Name(s) of the related party  

Nature of relationship  

Nature of contracts /arrangements /transactions  

Duration of the contracts / arrangements/transactions  

Salient terms of the contracts /arrangements/ transactions including the 

value, if any 

 

Justification for entering into such contracts/ arrangements or transactions  

Date(s) of approval by the Board, if any  

Amount paid as advances, if any  

Date on which the special resolution was passed in general meeting as 

required under first proviso to section 188 

 

 

b) Details of material contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm’s length basis: 

(INR in Millions) 

 

For and on behalf of the Board  

VR Dakshin Private Limited  

 

      

Rohan Anand 

Director  

(DIN: 09539295) 

Date: August 9, 2023  

Place: Gurugram 

Jay Dayani 

Director  

(DIN: 09663289) 

Date: August 9, 2023 

Place: Gurugram 

 

S. 

No.  

Name(s) of 

the related 

party 

Nature of 

relationshi

p 

Nature of 

contracts/arra

ngements/trans

actions 

 

Duration of the 

contracts/ 

arrangement/trans

action 

Terms of the 

contracts/arr

angements/ 

transactions 

including the 

value, if any  

Date of 

approval 

by the 

Board, if 

any 

Amount 

paid as 

advance

s, if any 

1 VR South 

Asia Private 

Limited 

Fellow 

Subsidiary 

Legal and 

professional 

fees (Manpower 

Services) 

Valid until mutually 

terminated by the 

parties 

11.58 2nd 

January 

2023 

Nil 

2 Virtuous 

Retail 

Property 

Services LLP 

Fellow 

Subsidiary 

Mall 

Management 

Fee expenses & 

Lease Rental 

Valid until mutually 

terminated by the 

parties 

100.55 NA Nil 

3 Mr. Tariq 

Chinoy 

Director Director 

Contract 

Valid until mutually 

terminated by the 

parties 

3.06 13th June 

2022 

Nil 

4 Ms. Sumi 

Gupta 

Director Director 

Contract 

Valid until mutually 

terminated by the 

parties 

3.56 7th July 

2022 

Nil 

Sd/- Sd/-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Members of VR Dakshin Private Limited 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of VR Dakshin Private Limited (“the 

Company”), which comprise the Balance sheet as at March 31, 2023, the Statement of Profit and Loss, 

including the statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and the Statement 

of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 

of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 

aforesaid financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013, as amended 

(“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting 

principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2023, its 

loss including other comprehensive income its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended 

on that date.  

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs), 

as specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further 

described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ section of our 

report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 

our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we 

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of 

Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our audit opinion on the financial statements. 

 

Emphasis of Matter 

 

We draw attention to Note 30(c)(i) to the financial statements which states that the Company is in legal 

dispute in relation to a portion of its land, alleged to be encroached land reserved for public purposes. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 

We draw attention to Note 31(B) to the financial statements which states that the Company is carrying 

a recoverable amount of Rs. 152.09 million from Ozone Projects Private Limited, classified under 

capital advance, against whom National Company Law Tribunal (‘NCLT’), Chennai has ordered 

corporate insolvency resolution process. Pending resolution process, these advances are classified as 

good and recoverable by the Company. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the financial statements for the financial year ended March 31, 2023. These matters were 
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addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 

description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.  

 

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our 

report. We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 

the financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our 

audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the 

procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the 

accompanying financial statements. 

 

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Accounting for lease rental income (as described in note 2.2(a)(i) of the financial statements) 

Lease rental income amounted to Rs. 1,267.45 

million for the year ended March 31, 2023. 

Generally, lease revenue is recognized, in accordance 

with the terms of lease contracts over the lease term 

on a straight-line basis. Also, there are lease 

arrangements involving revenue share, where 

revenue recognition is not subject to straight line 

basis. However, revenue in these cases are based on 

management’s estimate, depending on the nature of 

the lease arrangements and performance of the lease.  

There is an inherent risk around the accuracy of the 

revenue recorded given the volumes and impact of 

the terms of lease agreements to the revenue 

recognition. 

Our audit procedures included, among others, the 

following:  

• We considered the appropriateness of the 

Company's revenue recognition accounting 

policies and assessed compliance with the 

policies in terms of the applicable accounting 

standards. 

• We identified and tested controls relating to 

revenue recognition with specific focus on 

whether lease income is recorded over the lease 

term on a straight-line basis or other applicable 

basis as per the terms of the lease contract. 

• We tested, on a sample basis, the contracts 

entered into with the customers to assess 

whether lease income recorded is as per the 

contract terms and also to identify any non-

standard lease clauses and to assess the 

appropriateness of rental income accounting. 

• We assessed the completeness of lease rental 

income recorded during the year through 

matching the data used in the revenue 

recognition to the approved lease agreements 

with the customers on a sample basis. We also 

on a sample basis, tested the basis of 

management estimates i.e., tenants sales report 

obtained by management in relation to the 

revenue share arrangements.  

• We also performed analytical procedures of 

lease rental income and the timing of its 

recognition.  

 

Assessing the recoverability of carrying value of Investment property and Property, plant and 

equipment (PPE) (as described in note 2.2(b), note 2.2(c), note 2.2(e) and note 3(b)(iii) of the financial 

statements) 
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As at March 31, 2023, the carrying value of the 

Investment property and PPE is Rs. 11,665.82 

million and Rs. 596.00 million respectively. The 

carrying value of the investment property, PPE and 

CWIP (collectively referred to as ‘Assets’) is 

calculated using land costs, construction costs, 

interest costs and other related costs. Management 

reviews on a periodical basis whether there are any 

indicators of impairment of such Assets i.e. ensuring 

that its Assets are carried at no more than their 

recoverable amount.  

We considered the valuation of Investment property, 

PPE and CWIP as a key audit matter given the value 

of the underlying Assets and the significant estimates 

and judgment involved in its impairment assessment. 

Our audit procedures included, among others, the 

following: 

• We assessed the Company’s valuation 

methodology and assumptions based on 

current economic and market conditions 

applied in determining the recoverable amount. 

• We obtained and read the management internal 

valuation or valuation report used by the 

management for determining the fair value 

(‘recoverable amount’) of the Investment 

property, PPE and CWIP. 

• We assessed the key assumptions used in the 

valuation including but not limited to discount 

rates, cash flows, etc. 

• We considered the independence, competence 

and objectivity of the management specialist 

involved in determination of valuation.  

• We assessed the Company’s valuation 

methodology applied and compared key 

property related data used as input with 

historical actual data. 

• We compared the recoverable amount of the 

Investment property, PPE and CWIP to the 

carrying value in books.  

• We also assessed the adequacy of the 

disclosures made in the financial statements. 

 

 

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information 

comprises the information included in the Director’s report, but does not include the financial statements 

and our auditor’s report thereon.  

 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether such other information is materially inconsistent with 

the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 

of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 

Statements  

 

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act 

with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial 
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position, financial performance including other comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in 

equity of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, 

including the Indian Accounting  Standards (Ind AS) specified under section 133 of the Act read with 

the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. This responsibility also 

includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for 

safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 

irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and 

estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 

internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness 

of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that 

give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to 

cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 

process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 

of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also 

responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial 

controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such 

controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
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concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 

cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements for the financial year ended March 31, 

2023 and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless 

law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 

we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication. 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central 

Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the 

“Annexure 1” a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order. 

2. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that: 

 

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 

knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit; 

  

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so 

far as it appears from our examination of those books except that the Company does not have 

server physically located in India for the daily backup of the books of account and other books 

and papers maintained in electronic mode. 

 

(c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other 

Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt 

with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account; 

 

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards 

specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 

Rules, 2015, as amended; 
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(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2023 

taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 

March 31, 2023 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act; 

 

(f) The qualification relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith 

are as stated in paragraph (b) above; 

 

(g) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial 

statements and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in 

“Annexure 2” to this report; 

 

(h) The provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V of the Act are not applicable to the Company 

for the year ended March 31, 2023; 

 

(i) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with 

Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion and to 

the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us: 

 

i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in 

its financial statements – Refer Note 30(c) to the financial statements;  

 

ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for 

which there were any material foreseeable losses; 

 

iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education 

and Protection Fund by the Company. 

 

iv.  a)  The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds 

have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium 

or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other persons or entities, 

including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in 

writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or 

invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of 

the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on 

behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; 

 

b) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds 

have been received by the Company from any persons or entities, including foreign entities 

(“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, 

that the Company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or 

entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party 

(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the 

Ultimate Beneficiaries; and 

 

c) Based on such audit procedures performed that have been considered reasonable and 

appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to 

believe that the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material 

misstatement. 
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v.  No dividend has been declared or paid during the year by the Company. 

 

vi. As proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 is applicable for the 

Company only w.e.f. April 1, 2023, reporting under this clause is not applicable. 

 

 

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP  

Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004  

 

 

 

Sd/- 

per Adarsh Ranka 

Partner 

Membership Number: 209567 

UDIN: 23209567BGXVZE2206 

 

Place of Signature: Bengaluru, India  

Date: May 30, 2023 
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Annexure 1 Referred to in paragraph 1 under the heading “Report on other legal and 

regulatory requirements” of our report of even date 

 

Re: VR Dakshin Private Limited (“the Company”) 

 

In terms of the information and explanations sought by us and given by the company and the books of 

account and records examined by us in the normal course of audit and to the best of our knowledge and 

belief, we state that: 

 

(i) (a)(A) 

 

 

 

(a)(B) 

 

 

 

(b) 

 

 

 

 

 

(c) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(d) 

 

 

(e) 

The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including 

quantitative details and situation of investment property and property, plant and 

equipment. 

 

The Company has not capitalized any Intangible assets in the books of the Company 

and accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(i)(a)(B) of the Order is not 

applicable to the Company. 

 

All property, plant and equipment and investment property have not been physically 

verified by the management during the year but there is a regular programme of 

verification which, in our opinion, is reasonable having regard to the size of the 

Company and the nature of its assets. No material discrepancies were noticed on such 

verification. 

 

The title deeds of immovable properties (other than properties where the Company is 

the lessee and the lease agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee) included 

in property, plant and equipment and investment property are held in the name of the 

Company and mortgaged with the lenders of the Company. There is a dispute on certain 

portion of immovable property at the Company’s Bengaluru location. Also refer Note 

30(c)(i). 

 

The Company has not revalued its property, plant and equipment (including Right of 

use assets) or Intangible assets during the year ended March 31, 2023. 

 

As disclosed in Note 43(i) to financial statements, there are no proceedings initiated or 

are pending against the Company for holding any benami property under the 

Prohibition of Benami Property Transactions Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder. 

 

(ii) (a) 

 

 

 

 

 

(b) 

The management has conducted physical verification of inventory at reasonable 

intervals during the year. In our opinion the coverage and the procedure of such 

verification by the management is appropriate. Discrepancies of 10% or more in 

aggregate for each class of inventory were not noticed on such physical verification. 

There was no inventory lying with third parties.   

 

The Company has been sanctioned working capital limits in excess of Rs. five crores 

in aggregate from banks/financial institutions during any point of time of the year on 

the basis of security of current assets of the Company. Based on representation given 

by the management, there were no requirements of filing quarterly returns or 

statements with such banks/financial institutions during the year. Hence, we are unable 

to comment on the agreement with the books of account of the Company. 
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(iii) (a) 

 

 

 

(b) 

 

 

 

 

(c), 

(d) & 

(e) 

 

(f) 

During the year the Company has not provided loans, advances in the nature of loans, 

stood guarantee or provided security to companies, firms, Limited Liability 

Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 

3(iii)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

During the year the Company has not made investments, provided guarantees, provided 

security and granted loans and advances in the nature of loans to companies, firms, 

Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly, the requirement to 

report on clause 3(iii)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

 

The Company has not granted loans and advances in the nature of loans to companies, 

firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly, the requirement 

to report on clause 3(iii)(c), (d) & (e) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.  

  

The Company has not granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans, either 

repayable on demand or without specifying any terms or period of repayment to 

companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly, the 

requirement to report on clause 3(iii)(f) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.  

 

(iv)  There are no loans, investments, guarantees, and security in respect of which provisions 

of sections 185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 are applicable and accordingly, 

the requirement to report on clause 3(iv) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

 

(v)  The Company has neither accepted any deposits from the public nor accepted any 

amounts which are deemed to be deposits within the meaning of sections 73 to 76 of 

the Companies Act and the rules made thereunder, to the extent applicable. 

Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to 

the Company. 

 

(vi)  The Central Government has not specified the maintenance of cost records under 

Section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, for the products/services of the Company. 

 

(vii) (a) Undisputed statutory dues including goods and services tax, income-tax, sales-tax, 

service tax, duty of custom, duty of excise, value added tax, cess and other statutory 

dues have generally been regularly deposited with the appropriate authorities though 

there has been a slight delay in remittance of provident fund, employees’ state 

insurance and tax deducted at source. According to the information and explanations 

given to us and based on audit procedures performed by us, no undisputed amounts 

payable in respect of these statutory dues were outstanding, at the year end, for a period 

of more than six months from the date they became payable 
 

 (b) The dues of goods and services tax, provident fund, employees’ state insurance, 

income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, duty of custom, duty of excise, value added tax, cess, 

and other statutory dues have not been deposited on account of any dispute, are as 

follows:  
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Name of 

the statue 

Nature of 

dues 

Amount # 

(Rs. In 

millions) 

Period to which 

the amount 

relates 

Forum where 

the dispute is 

pending 

Finance 

Act, 1994 

Service Tax 

credit 

including 

penalty 

82.80 April 2011 to 

September 2015 

Customs, 

Central Excise 

and Service Tax 

Appellate 

Tribunal 

Income Tax 

Act, 1961 

Income tax 

liability 

7.18 FY 2014-15 CIT (Appeals) 

Income Tax 

Act, 1961 

Income tax 

liability 

- FY 2015-16 Income Tax 

Appellate 

Tribunal 

# Net of Rs. 76.01 million paid/ adjusted under protest. 

 

(viii)  The Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transaction, previously unrecorded 

in the books of account, in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 as 

income during the year. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(viii) of the 

Order is not applicable to the Company. 

 

(ix) (a) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given by the 

management and based on confirmations given by bank/ financial institutions, the 

Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans and borrowing to bank/ financial 

institutions, except the Company has defaulted in case of repayment of interest dues to 

the holders of Fully Compulsorily Convertible Debenture amounting to Rs. 1,141.36 

million. The details are tabulated as under: 

 

Nature of 

borrowing 

including 

debt 

securities 

Name of 

lender 

Amount not 

paid on due 

date  

(Rs. In 

millions) 

Whether 

principal 

or interest 

No. of days 

delay 

Remarks, 

if any 

Fully 

Compulsorily 

Convertible 

Debentures 

Moribus 

Holding

s Pte 

Ltd 

285.34 Interest 1,096 – 

1,371 days 

In relation 

to FY 

2019-20 

Fully 

Compulsorily 

Convertible 

Debentures 

Moribus 

Holding

s Pte 

Ltd 

285.34 Interest 731 – 1,006 

days 

In relation 

to FY 

2020-21 

Fully 

Compulsorily 

Convertible 

Debentures 

Moribus 

Holding

s Pte 

Ltd 

285.34 Interest 366 - 640 

days 

In relation 

to FY 

2021-22 

Fully 

Compulsorily 

Convertible 

Debentures 

Moribus 

Holding

s Pte 

Ltd 

285.34 Interest 1 - 275 

days 

In relation 

to FY 

2022-23 
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(b) 

 

 

(c) 

 

(d) 

The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial 

institution or government or any government authority. 

 

Term loans were applied for the purpose for which the loans were obtained. 

 

On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, the Company 

has used funds raised on short-term basis aggregating to Rs. 1,610.20 million for long-

term purposes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(x) 

(e) 

 

 

 

(f) 

 

 

 

(a) 

 

 

 

(b) 

The Company does not have any subsidiary, associate or joint venture. Accordingly, 

the requirement to report on clause 3(ix)(e) of the Order is not applicable to the 

Company. 

 

The Company does not have any subsidiary, associate or joint venture. Accordingly, 

the requirement to report on Clause 3(ix)(f) of the Order is not applicable to the 

Company. 

 

The Company has not raised any money during the year by way of initial public offer 

/ further public offer (including debt instruments) hence, the requirement to report on 

clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

 

The Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares 

/fully or partially or optionally convertible debentures during the year under audit and 

hence, the requirement to report on clause 3(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the 

Company. 

 

(xi) (a) 

 

 

(b) 

 

 

 

(c) 

No material fraud by the Company or no material fraud on the Company has been 

noticed or reported during the year. 

 

During the year, no report under sub-section (12) of section 143 of the Companies Act, 

2013 has been filed by secretarial auditor or by us in Form ADT – 4 as prescribed under 

Rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government. 

 

As represented to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints 

received by the Company during the year. 

 

(xii) (a), 

(b) & 

(c) 

 

The Company is not a nidhi Company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 

2013. Therefore, the requirement to report on clause 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable 

to the Company. 

 

(xiii) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(xiv) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(a) 

 

 

 

Transactions with the related parties are in compliance with section 188 of Companies 

Act, 2013 where applicable and the details have been disclosed in the notes to the 

financial statements, as required by the applicable accounting standards. The 

provisions of section 177 are not applicable to the Company and accordingly the 

requirements to report under clause 3(xiii) of the Order insofar as it relates to section 

177 of the Act is not applicable to the Company. 

 

The Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of 

its business. 
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(b) 

 

We were unable to obtain any of the internal audit reports of the Company as the 

internal audit is currently under process, hence we are unable to comment on the 

requirements under this clause. 

 

(xv)  The Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or 

persons connected with its directors and hence requirement to report on clause 3(xv) 

of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

 

(xvi) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(xvii) 

 

 

 

(xviii) 

 

 

(xix) 

(a) 

 

 

 

(b) 

 

 

 

(c) 

 

 

 

 

 

(d) 

The provisions of section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (2 of 1934) are 

not applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 

(xvi)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

 

The Company is not engaged in any Non-Banking Financial or Housing Finance 

activities. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause (xvi)(b) of the Order is not 

applicable to the Company. 

 

The Company is not a Core Investment Company as defined in the regulations made 

by Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(xvi)(c) 

of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

 

 

 

There is no Core Investment Company as a part of the Group, hence, the requirement 

to report on clause 3(xvi)(d) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.  

 

The Company has incurred cash losses in the current year amounting to Rs. 499.71 

million.  In the immediately preceding financial year, the Company had incurred cash 

losses amounting to Rs. 305.92 million. 

 

There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year and accordingly 

requirement to report on Clause 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

 

On the basis of the financial ratios disclosed in Note 42 to the financial statements, the 

ageing and expected dates of realization of financial assets and payment of financial 

liabilities, other information accompanying the financial statements, our knowledge of 

the Board of Directors and management plans and based on our examination of the 

evidence supporting the assumptions and considering the Company’s current liabilities 

exceeds the current assets by Rs. 2,328.00 million, the Company has obtained the letter 

of financial support from the Holding Company, nothing has come to our attention, 

which causes us to believe that Company is not capable of meeting its liabilities, 

existing at the date of balance sheet, as and when they fall due within a period of one 

year from the balance sheet date.  

 

We, further state that this is not an assurance as to the future viability of the Company 

and our reporting is based on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we neither 

give any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period of 

one year from the balance sheet date, will get discharged by the Company as and when 

they fall due. 
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(xx) (a) & 

(b) 

The provisions of Section 135 to the Companies Act, 2013 in relation to Corporate 

Social Responsibility is not applicable to the Company. Accordingly, the requirement 

to report on clause 3(xx)(a) and (b) of the Order are not applicable to the Company. 

 

 

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004 

 

 

 

Sd/- 

per Adarsh Ranka 

Partner 

Membership Number: 209567 

UDIN: 23209567BGXVZE2206 

 

Place of Signature: Bengaluru, India  

Date: May 30, 2023 
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Annexure 2 to the Independent Auditor’s Report of even date on the financial statements of VR 

Dakshin Private Limited 

 

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the 

Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) 

 

We were engaged to audit the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of VR 

Dakshin Private Limited (“the Company”) as of March 31, 2023, in conjunction with our audit of the 

financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date. 

 

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

 

The company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls 

based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering 

the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 

Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). 

These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 

financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its 

business, including adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention 

and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the 

timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.  

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference 

to these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the 

Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) 

and the Standards on Auditing as specified under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the 

extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both issued by ICAI.  

 

Because of the matter described in Disclaimer of Opinion paragraph below, we were not able to obtain 

sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on internal financial controls 

with reference to these financial statements of the Company. 

 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to Financial Statements 

 

A company's internal financial control with reference to financial statements is a process designed to 

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 

financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

A company's internal financial control with reference to financial statements includes those policies and 

procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 

reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 

that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 

being made only in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and 

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, 

use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
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Disclaimer of Opinion 

 

According to the information and explanation given to us, the Company has not established its internal 

financial control with reference to financial statements on criteria based on or considering the essential 

components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by ICAI. Because of this reason, we 

are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our opinion whether the 

Company had adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements as at March 

31, 2023 and whether such internal financial controls were operating effectively. Accordingly, we do 

not express an opinion on Internal Financial Controls with reference to these financial statements. 

 

Explanatory paragraph 

 

We also have audited, in accordance with the Standards on Auditing issued by ICAI, as specified under 

Section 143(10) of the Act, the financial statements of VR Dakshin Private Limited, which comprise 

the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2023, and the related Statement of Profit and Loss, including the 

statement of Other Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and the Statement of Changes in 

Equity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information, and our report dated May 30, 2023 expressed 

an unqualified opinion thereon. We have considered the disclaimer reported above in determining the 

nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the financial statements of the Company, 

and the disclaimer does not affect our opinion on the financial statements of the Company. 

 

 

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004 

 

 

 

Sd/- 

per Adarsh Ranka 

Partner 

Membership Number: 209567 

UDIN: 23209567BGXVZE2206 

 

Place of Signature: Bengaluru, India  

Date: May 30, 2023 
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Notes 
As at As at 

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 
 

 

 
Assets 

Non-current assets 

 

Property, plant and equipment 4.1 596.00 605.69 

Capital work-in-progress 4.3 8.38 1.82 

Investment property 4.2 11,665.82 11,939.56 

Financial assets    

Investments 5 0.01 0.01 

Other financial assets 8 68.11 47.83 

Assets for current tax (net)  288.66 296.97 

Other non-current assets 9 187.35 195.76 

  12,814.33 13,087.64 

Current assets 
   

Inventories 6 18.13 18.36 

Financial assets 

Trade receivables 

 
7 

 
178.43 

 
240.03 

Cash and cash equivalents 10 77.18 91.99 

Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 10 331.68 338.99 

Other financial assets 8 127.99 209.16 

Other current assets 9 43.55 46.93 

  776.96 945.46 

Total assets  13,591.28 14,033.10 

 

 
Equity and liabilities 

   

Equity    

Equity share capital 11 0.20 0.20 

Other equity 12 (4,432.78) (3,498.63) 

Total equity  (4,432.59) (3,498.43) 

Non-current liabilities 
   

Financial liabilities    

Borrowings 13 12,147.52 12,731.56 

Lease Liabilities 30 41.91 41.75 

Other financial liabilities 14 2,303.50 1,765.72 

Deferred revenue 16 11.22 19.61 

Long term provisions 17 1.72 2.79 

Deferred tax liabilities (net) 18 413.04 403.98 
  14,918.91 14,965.41 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

 
For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Chartered Accountants VR Dakshin Private Limited 

ICAI Firm registration number: 101049W/E300004 

 

 

 
 

per Adarsh Ranka 

Partner 

Tariq Chinoy 

Director 

Jay Dayani 

Director 

Membership No.: 209567 DIN: 08830666 DIN: 09663289 

Place: Bengaluru, India Place: Mumbai, India Place: Mumbai, India 

Date: May 30, 2023 Date: May 30, 2023 Date: May 30, 2023 

 

 

 
Rajendra Pai Rashmi Sharma 

Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 

 
Place: Bengaluru, India Place: Gurgaon, India 

Date: May 30, 2023 Date: May 30, 2023 

 Notes 
31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Current liabilities    

Financial liabilities    

Borrowings 13 1,049.19 925.68 

Lease Liabilities 30 4.12 4.42 

Trade payables 

i) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small 

19  
14.41 

 
16.59 

enterprises    

ii) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises 

and small enterprises 

 424.20 245.47 

Other financial liabilities 14 1,540.24 1,290.93 

Other current liabilities 15 58.91 64.74 

Deferred revenue 16 12.48 15.94 

Provisions 17 1.41 2.35 

  3,104.96 2,566.12 

Total liabilities  18,023.87 17,531.53 

Total equity and liabilities  13,591.28 14,033.10 

    

 

Sd/- Sd/-Sd/-

Sd/- Sd/-
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Statement of profit and loss for the year ended March 31, 2023   
 

(Rs. in millions) 

  

Notes 

For the year ended 

31-Mar-23 

For the year ended 

31-Mar-22 

Income    

Revenue from operations 20 1,982.06 1,735.64 

Other income 21 57.89 60.50 

Total income  2,039.95 1,796.14 

Expenses 
   

Employee benefits expense 22 56.96 79.65 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 23 396.78 403.58 

Finance costs 25 1,594.04 1,600.06 

Other expenses 24 918.22 690.28 

Total expenses  2,966.01 2,773.57 

Loss before tax  (926.06) (977.43) 

Tax expenses 
   

Current tax 18 - - 

Deferred tax charge/ (credit) 18 9.06 (0.23) 

Income tax expense  9.06 (0.23) 

Loss for the year  (935.11) (977.20) 

Other comprehensive income 
   

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit    

or loss in subsequent periods:    

Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plan  1.31 0.73 

Income tax effect  (0.34) (0.19) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  0.97 0.54 

Total comprehensive income for the year  (934.14) (976.66) 

    

Earnings per equity share (in Rs.) [nominal value of Rs. 29 
  

10 (Previous year - Rs. 10)]    

Basic and Diluted  (42,714) (44,637) 

Summary of significant accounting policies 2.2   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Chartered Accountants VR Dakshin Private Limited 

ICAI Firm registration number: 101049W/E300004 

 

 

 
 

per Adarsh Ranka 

Partner 

Tariq Chinoy 

Director 

Jay Dayani 

Director 

Membership No.: 209567 DIN: 08830666 DIN: 09663289 

Place: Bengaluru, India Place: Mumbai, India Place: Mumbai, India 

Date: May 30, 2023 Date: May 30, 2023 Date: May 30, 2023 

 

 

 
Rajendra Pai Rashmi Sharma 

Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 

 
Place: Bengaluru, India Place: Gurgaon, India 

Date: May 30, 2023 Date: May 30, 2023 

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-

Sd/- Sd/-
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Chartered Accountants VR Dakshin Private Limited 

ICAI Firm registration number: 101049W/E300004 

 

 

 
per Adarsh Ranka 

Partner 

Tariq Chinoy 

Director 

Jay Dayani 

Director 

Membership No.: 209567 DIN: 08830666 DIN: 09663289 

Place: Bengaluru, India Place: Mumbai, India Place: Mumbai, India 

Date: May 30, 2023 Date: May 30, 2023 Date: May 30, 2023 

 

 
 

Rajendra Pai Rashmi Sharma 

Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 

Place: Bengaluru, India Place: Gurgaon, India 

Date: May 30, 2023 Date: May 30, 2023 

VR Dakshin Private Limited 

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2023 

  

 
(Rs. in millions) 

 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Operating activities   

Loss before tax (926.06) (977.43) 

Adjustments to reconcile loss before tax to net cash flows:   

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment & investment property 396.78 403.58 

Finance income (including fair value change in financial instruments) (29.74) (38.07) 

Finance costs (including fair value change in financial instruments) 1,589.74 1,596.30 

Impairment of trade receivables and contract asset 29.57 151.72 

Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plan 0.97 0.54 

Share of (profit)/ loss from investment in partnership firm 0.00 0.00 

Working capital adjustments:   

(Increase)/ decrease in trade receivables  31.61 (122.25) 

(Increase)/ decrease in investments  0.00 0.00 

(Increase)/ decrease in inventories  0.23 (0.50) 

(Increase)/ decrease in other financial assets  75.61 (105.72) 

(Increase)/ decrease in other assets and loans  3.31 (11.79) 

Increase/ (decrease) in trade payables and other financial liabilities  177.74 94.85 

Increase/ (decrease) in provisions  (2.01) 0.15 

Increase/ (decrease) in other liabilities  (5.83) 38.31 

  1,341.93 1,029.66 

Income tax paid (net of refund)  8.32 184.39 

Net cash flows from operating activities (A)  1,350.25 1,214.05 

Investing activities    

Purchase of property, plant and equipment & Investment Property (including 

capital work-in-progress and capital advances) 

 (114.52) (59.85) 

Investments in fixed deposits  (73.89) (69.61) 

Redemption of fixed deposits  67.36 42.73 

Interest received  29.40 39.76 

Net cash flows used in investing activities (B)  (91.64) (46.96) 

Financing activities    

Proceeds from short-term borrowings  94.86 36.90 

Proceeds from issue of Unsecured debentures  130.00 - 

Repayment of term loan from banks & financial institutions  (217.64) (153.66) 

Repayment of non-convertible bonds issued to banks  (408.76) (267.34) 

Repayment of short-term borrowings  (59.00) (12.74) 

Interest paid (gross)  (812.88) (770.69) 

Net cash flows used in financing activities (C)  (1,273.42) (1,167.53) 

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (14.81) (0.44) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (refer note 10)  91.99 92.43 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (refer note 10)  77.18 91.99 

 

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-

Sd/- Sd/-
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended March 31, 2023 

 
a. Equity share capital 

 

 No of Shares 

in million 

Amount in 

Rs. million 

Equity shares of Rs. 10 each issued, subscribed and fully paid 
  

At April 1, 2021 0.02 0.20 

At March 31, 2022 0.02 0.20 

March 31, 2023 0.02 0.20 

 

b. Other equity* 

For the year ended March 31, 2023 

  

(Rs. in millions) 

 Attributable to equity holders of the Company  
Total Reserves and Surplus 

Equity component 

of convertible 
debentures 

Securities 

premium 
account 

Retained 

earnings 

As at April 1, 2022 343.10 1,599.59 (5,441.31) (3,498.63) 

Loss for the year - - (935.11) (935.11) 

Other comprehensive income     

Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans - - 0.97 0.97 

At March 31, 2023 343.10 1,599.59 (6,375.46) (4,432.78) 

 

For the year ended March 31, 2022 

(Rs. in millions) 

 Attributable to equity holders of the Company  

Total Reserves and Surplus 

Equity component 

of convertible 

debentures 

Securities 

premium 

account 

Retained 

earnings 

As at April 1, 2021 343.10 1,599.59 (4,464.66) (2,521.97) 

Loss for the year - - (977.20) (977.20) 

Other comprehensive income     

Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans - - 0.54 0.54 

At March 31, 2022 343.10 1,599.59 (5,441.31) (3,498.63) 

*Also refer note 12 

Summary of significant accounting policies 2.2 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

 

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Chartered Accountants VR Dakshin Private Limited 

ICAI Firm registration number: 101049W/E300004 

 

 
 

per Adarsh Ranka 

Partner 

Tariq Chinoy 

Director 

Jay Dayani 

Director 

Membership No.: 209567 DIN: 08830666 DIN: 09663289 

Place: Bengaluru, India Place: Mumbai, India Place: Mumbai, India 

Date: May 30, 2023 Date: May 30, 2023 Date: May 30, 2023 

 

 

 
Rajendra Pai Rashmi Sharma 

Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary 

 
Place: Bengaluru, India Place: Gurgaon, India 

Date: May 30, 2023 Date: May 30, 2023 

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-

Sd/- Sd/-
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1 Corporate Information 
 

VR Dakshin Private Limited ("the Company") was incorporated on September 8, 1987. The Company is engaged in carrying on the 

business of real estate development, leasing and hospitality and related services. 

 
The Company is a private limited company incorporated and domiciled in India and has its registered office at Bengaluru, Karnataka, 

India. Its debentures and bonds are listed on BSE Limited (BSE). 

 
The financial statements have been authorised for issuance by the Company's Board of Directors on May 30, 2023. 

 

2 Significant accounting policies 

 
2.1 Basis of preparation 

 

These financial statements are separate financial statements prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) 

notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended from time to time) and presentation 

requirements of Division II of Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013, (Ind AS compliant Schedule III). 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the following assets and liabilities which 

have been measured at fair value: 

 
► Certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (refer accounting policy regarding financial instruments) 

 
The financial statements are presented in INR and all values are rounded to the nearest millions, except when otherwise 

indicated. 
 

2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

 
a) Revenue recognition 

 

i Rental income from operating leases 

Rental income receivable under operating leases (excluding variable rental income) is recognized in the statement of 

profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease including lease income on fair value of refundable 

security deposits. Rental income under operating leases having variable rental income is recognized as per the terms of 

the contract. Revenue in excess of billings on rental contracts is recorded as unbilled receivables and is included in 

other current financial assets. 

 
Also refer note 2.2(t) below. 

 

ii Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the 

customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those 

goods or services. The Company has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements because it 

typically controls the goods or services before transferring them to the customer. Revenue is measured based on the 

transaction price, which is the consideration, adjusted for discounts, credits, concessions and incentives, if any, as 

specified in the contract with the customer. The Company presents revenue from contracts with customers net of 

indirect taxes in its statement of profit and loss. 

 
The Company considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate performance obligations to 

which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated. In determining the transaction price, the Company 

considers the effects of variable consideration, the existence of significant financing components, non cash 

consideration, and consideration payable to the customer (if any). 
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Recognition of revenue from operational and facility management charges 

For investment property held primarily to earn rental income, the Company enters as a lessor into lease agreements that 

fall within the scope of Ind-AS 116. These agreements include certain services offered to tenants (i.e., customers) 

including common area maintenance services as well as other support services. The consideration charged to tenants for 

these services includes fees charged based on the terms of lease agreement and reimbursement of certain expenses 

incurred. These services are specified in the lease agreements and separately invoiced. 

 

The Company has determined that these services constitute distinct non-lease components (transferred separately from 

the right to use the underlying asset) and are within the scope of Ind-AS 115. The Company allocates the consideration 

in the contract to the separate lease and revenue (non-lease) components on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. 

 
In respect of the maintenance and marketing services, these services represent a series of daily services that are 

individually satisfied over time because the tenants simultaneously receive and consume the benefits provided by the 

Company. The Company applies the time elapsed method to measure progress. Operation, maintenance, utilities, 

parking fees and other fees receivable for services rendered are recognized on a gross basis as and when the services are 

rendered as per the terms of the contract, except utilities which have been netted off against the expenses. 

 

Recognition of revenue from hotel operations 

Revenue from hotel operations comprise of revenue from rooms, restaurants, banquets and other allied services, 

including telecommunication, laundry, etc. Revenue is recognized as and when the services are rendered and is 

disclosed net of discounts and rebates. 
 

Contract assets are recognised when there is excess of revenue earned over billings on contracts. Contract assets are 

classified as unbilled receivables (only act of invoicing is pending) when there is unconditional right to receive cash, 

and only passage of time is required, as per contractual terms. 

 

Unearned and deferred revenue (“contract liability”) is recognised when there is billings in excess of revenues. 
 

iii Share in profit/ (loss) of Limited liability partnership (LLP) 

The Company’s share in profits/ (loss) from a LLP where the Company is a partner, is recognised on the basis of such 

LLP’s audited accounts, as per terms of the partnership deed. 

 

iv Interest income 

Interest income, including income arising from other financial instruments, is recognised using the effective interest rate 

method. Interest on delayed payment by customers are accounted when reasonable certainty of collection is established. 

 

v. Dividend income 

Revenue is recognised when the shareholders’ or unit holders’ right to receive payment is established, which is 

generally when shareholders approve the dividend. 
 

b) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant & equipment are stated at their cost of acquisition/construction, net of accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses, if any. The cost comprises purchase price, borrowing costs if capitalization criteria are met, directly 

attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for the intended use and initial estimate of 

decommissioning, restoring and similar liabilities. Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is 

significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately. This applies mainly to components for 

machinery. When significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company 

depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost 

is recognized in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. 

All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in statement of profit and loss as incurred. 

 

Subsequent expenditure related to an item of property, plant and equipment is added to its book value only if it increases 

the future benefits from the existing asset beyond its previously assessed standard of performance. 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition of property, plant and equipment which take substantial period of time 

to get ready for its intended use are also included to the extent they relate to the period till such assets are ready to be put 

to use. 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or 

when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the 

asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in 

the statement of profit and loss when the Property, plant and equipment is derecognised. 
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Expenditure directly relating to construction activity is capitalised. Indirect expenditure incurred during construction 

period is capitalised to the extent to which the expenditure is indirectly related to construction or is incidental thereto. 

Other indirect expenditure (including borrowing costs) incurred during the construction period which is not related to the 

construction activity nor is incidental thereto is charged to the statement of profit and loss. 
 

Cost of assets not ready for use at the balance sheet date are disclosed under capital work-in-progress. 
 

Advances paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding at each balance sheet date is 

classified as capital advances under other non-current assets. 
 

c) Investment properties 
 

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss, if any. 

 
The cost includes the cost of replacing parts and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition 

criteria are met. When significant parts of the investment property are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company 

depreciates them separately based on their specific useful lives. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in 

statement of profit and loss as incurred. 

 
Though the Company measures investment property using cost based measurement, the fair value of investment property 

is disclosed in the notes. Fair values are determined based on an annual evaluation performed by an accredited external 

independent valuer. 

 
Investment properties are de-recognized either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently withdrawn 

from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds 

and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized in statement of profit and loss in the period of de-recognition. 

 

d) Depreciation on Property, plant and equipment and Investment property 
 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis using the following useful lives prescribed under Schedule II, except 

where specified. 

 

 
Particulars 

Useful lives estimated by the 

management 

(in years) 

Buildings 60 

Leasehold land Lease term (99) 

Leasehold improvements Lease term (4) 

Plant and machinery  

i. General plant and machinery 15 

ii. Plant and Machinery - Electrical installations 10 

Furniture and fixtures * 4 to 10 

Computers 3 to 6 

Office equipment's * 4 to 5 

 
*For these class of assets, based on Management's internal technical assessment, the Management believes that the useful 

lives as given above best represent the period over which Management expects to use these assets. Hence, the useful lives 

for these assets is different from the useful lives as prescribed under Part C of Schedule II of the Act. 

 

Freehold land is not depreciated. 
 

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment and investment property 

are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 
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e) Impairment of non financial assets 
 

The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 

indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s 

recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair value 

less costs of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 

not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying 

amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 

recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair 

value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an 

appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for 

publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators. 

 

Impairment losses, including impairment on inventories, are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. After 

impairment, depreciation is provided on the revised carrying amount of the asset over its remaining useful life. 
 

f) Impairment of financial assets 
 

The Company assesses at each date of balance sheet whether a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 

Ind AS 109 requires expected credit losses to be measured through a loss allowance. The Company recognises lifetime 

expected losses for all contract assets and / or all trade receivables that do not constitute a financing transaction. For all 

other financial assets, expected credit losses are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month expected credit losses or at 

an amount equal to the life time expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly 

since initial recognition. 
 

g) Current versus non-current classification 
 

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non-current classification. An asset is 

treated as current when it is: 

- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 

- Held primarily for the purpose of trading 

- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 

- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months 

after the reporting period. 

 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 

 

A liability is current when: 

- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 

- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 

- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 

- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting 

period. 

 
The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 
 

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash 

equivalents. The Company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle. 
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h) Financial instruments 
 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 

instrument of another entity. 

 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 

comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss. 

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 

characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them. The Company initially measures a financial asset at 

its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. In order for a 

financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows 

that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred 

to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified 

and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. 

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to 

generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, 

selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business 

model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows while financial assets classified 

and measured at fair value through OCI are held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect 

contractual cash flows and selling. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 

convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Company 

commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 

Debt instruments at amortised cost 

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

Debt instruments and equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

 
Debt instruments at amortised cost 

A ‘debt instrument’ is measured at the amortised cost if both the following conditions are met: 

a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting contractual cash flows, 

and 

b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
This category is the most relevant to the Company. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into 

account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR 

amortisation is included in finance income in the profit or loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the 

profit or loss. This category generally applies to trade and other receivables. 

 
Debt instrument at FVTOCI 

A ‘debt instrument’ is classified as at the FVTOCI if both of the following criteria are met: 

a) The objective of the business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial 

assets, and 

b) The asset’s contractual cash flows represent SPPI. 

 
Debt instruments included within the FVTOCI category are measured initially as well as at each reporting date at fair 

value. Fair value movements are recognized in the other comprehensive income (OCI). 

 

Debt instrument at FVTPL 

FVTPL is a residual category for debt instruments. Any debt instrument, which does not meet the criteria for 

categorization as at amortized cost or as FVTOCI, is classified as at FVTPL. Debt instruments included within the FVTPL 

category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in the statement of profit and loss. 

In addition, the Company may elect to designate a debt instrument, which otherwise meets amortized cost or FVTOCI 

criteria, as at FVTPL. However, such election is allowed only if doing so reduces or eliminates a measurement or 

recognition inconsistency (referred to as ‘accounting mismatch’). The Company has not designated any debt instrument as 

at FVTPL. 
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Derecognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Company of similar financial assets) is 

primarily derecognised when: 

► The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 

► The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 

received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the 

Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred 

nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

 
When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 

arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither 

transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the 

Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement. In that case, 

the Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a 

basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained. 
 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans 

and borrowings, or as payables, as appropriate. 

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 

designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified as held for 

trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the profit or loss. 

 

Loans and borrowings 

This is the category most relevant to the Company. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of profit and 

loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an 

integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit and loss. 

Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of financial year 

which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is due within 12 months 

after reporting period. For trade and other payables maturing within one year from the balance sheet date, the carrying 

amounts approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these instruments. 

 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an 

existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 

existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the 

original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in 

the statement of profit or loss. 
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i) Fair value measurement 
 

The Company measures financial instruments, such as investments at fair value at each balance sheet date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction 

to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

 
► In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

► In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company. 

 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing 

the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset 

in its highest and best use. 

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 

available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable 

inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 

fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

as a whole: 

► Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

► Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

directly or indirectly observable 

► Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

unobservable 

 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company determines 

whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level 

input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

 
 

j) Convertible debentures 

Convertible debentures are separated into liability and equity components based on the terms of the contract. On issuance 

of the convertible debentures, the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent 

non-convertible instrument. This amount is classified as a financial liability measured at amortised cost (net of transaction 

costs) until it is extinguished on conversion or redemption. 

The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and included in equity since 

conversion option meets Ind AS 32 criteria for fixed to fixed classification. Transaction costs are deducted from equity, 

net of associated income tax. The carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent years. 

 
 

k) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition/ construction of qualifying assets are capitalised until the time all 

substantial activities necessary to prepare the qualifying assets for their intended use are complete. A qualifying asset is 

one that necessarily takes substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use/ sale. All other borrowing costs not 

eligible for inventorisation/ capitalisation are charged to statement of profit and loss. 
 

l) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of cash flow statement comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term 

deposits with an original maturity of three months or less , which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, 

net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the Company’s cash management. 
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m) Retirement and other employee benefits 
 

Short term employee benefits : 

All employee benefits falling due wholly within twelve months of rendering the services are classified as short term 

employee benefits, which include benefits like salaries, short term compensated absences, performance incentives, etc. 

and are recognised as expense in the period in which the employee renders the related service. 

 
Defined-contribution plans : 

The Company has defined contribution plans (where Company pays pre-defined amounts and does not have any legal or 

informal obligation to pay additional sums) for post employment benefits (viz., provident fund), and the Company’s 

contributions thereto are charged to the statement of profit and loss every year. 

 
Defined-benefit plans : 

The Company has a defined benefit plan (viz., Gratuity) for employees, the liability for which is determined on the basis 

of valuation carried out by an independent actuary (under projected unit credit method) at the balance sheet date. 

 

 
Other long term employee benefits : 

Accumulated leave, which is expected to be utilized within the next 12 months, is treated as short-term employee benefit. 

The Company measures the expected cost of such absences as the additional amount that it expects to pay as a result of the 

unused entitlement that has accumulated at the reporting date. 

 

Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding amounts included in 

net interest on the net defined benefit liability, are recognised immediately in the balance sheet with a corresponding debit 

or credit to retained earnings through OCI in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to 

statement of profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

 
The Company treats accumulated leave expected to be carried forward beyond twelve months, as long-term employee 

benefit for measurement purposes. Such long-term compensated absences are provided for based on the actuarial valuation 

using the projected unit credit method at the year-end. The Company presents the entire leave as a current liability in the 

balance sheet, since it does not have an unconditional right to defer its settlement for twelve months after the reporting 

date. Actuarial gains/ losses are immediately taken to statement of profit and loss and are not deferred. 

 
 

n) Provisions 
 

A provision is recognized when an enterprise has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as result of past event and it 

is probable that an outflow of embodying economic benefits of resources will be required to settle a reliably assessable 

obligation. Provisions are determined based on best estimate required to settle each obligation at each balance sheet date. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, 

when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 

passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

 

o) Contingent liabilities 
 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Company or a present 

obligation that is not recognized because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 

obligation. A contingent liability also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognized 

because it cannot be measured reliably. The Company does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its existence 

in the financial statements. 
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p) Earnings per share 
 

Basic earnings / (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net profit / (loss) attributable to equity shareholders for the 

year by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year. 

 
The number of shares used in computing diluted earnings / (loss) per share comprises the weighted average shares 

considered for deriving basic earning / (loss) per share and also the weighted average number of equity shares which could 

have been issued on the conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares. 

 
Dilutive potential equity shares are deemed converted as of the beginning of the year, unless they have been issued at a 

later date. In computing diluted earnings per share, only potential equity shares that are dilutive and which either reduce 

earning per share or increase loss per share are included. 

 

q) Inventory 
 

Inventories are valued at cost which is based on weighted average method or net realizable value, whichever is lower. 

Unserviceable / damaged / discarded stocks and shortages are charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss. 
 

r) Taxes 
 

Tax expense comprises of current and deferred tax. 
 

Current income tax 

Current income tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authorities in accordance with the Indian 

Income Tax Act. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted 

by the balance sheet date. Current income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit 

or loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the 

underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. 
 

Deferred income tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 

and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and 

any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 

available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 

losses can be utilised. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

 
> When the deferred tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become 

probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

 

 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is 

realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date. 

Minimum Alternative Tax (MAT) may become payable when the taxable profit is lower than the book profit. Taxes paid 

under MAT are available as a set off against regular corporate tax payable in subsequent years, as per the provisions of 

Income Tax Act. MAT paid in a year is charged to the statement of profit and loss as current tax. The Company 

recognizes MAT credit available as an asset only to the extent that there is convincing evidence that the Company will pay 

normal income tax during the specified period, i.e., the period for which MAT credit is allowed to be carried forward. In 

the year in which the Company recognizes MAT credit as an asset in accordance with the Guidance Note on Accounting 

for Credit Available in respect of Minimum Alternative Tax under the Income-tax Act, 1961, the said asset is created by 

way of credit to the statement of profit and loss and shown as “MAT Credit Entitlement.” The Company reviews the 

“MAT credit entitlement” asset at each reporting date and writes down the asset to the extent the Company does not have 

convincing evidence that it will pay normal tax during the specified period. 
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s) Foreign currency translation 
 

Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the reporting currency, by applying to the foreign currency amount the 

exchange rate between the reporting currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency 

monetary items are reported using the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date. Non-monetary items, which are 

measured in terms of historical cost denominated in a foreign currency, are reported using the exchange rate at the date of 

the transaction. Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting monetary items of 

Company at rates different from those at which they were initially recorded during the year, or reported in previous 

financial statements, are recognised as income or as expenses in the year in which they arise. 

 

t) Leases 

 

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the 

right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
 

Company as a lessee 

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and 

leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets 

representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

 
i) Right-of-use assets 

The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is 

available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 

recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease 

incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the 

estimated useful lives of the assets. If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term 

or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. 

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. 

 

 
ii) Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 

payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in substance fixed 

payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts 

expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 

option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease 

term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a 

rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or 

condition that triggers the payment occurs. 

 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease 

commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement 

date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments 

made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease 

term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to 

determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. 

 

 
iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of certain assets (i.e., those 

leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It 

also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of certain assets that are considered to be low 

value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term. 
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Company as a lessor 

The Company earns revenue from acting as a lessor in operating leases which do not transfer substantially all of the risks 

and rewards incidental to ownership of an investment property. 

 
Rental income arising from operating leases on investment property is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 

term and is included in revenue in the statement of profit and loss due to its operating nature, except for contingent rental 

income which is recognised when it arises. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are 

recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income. Rental income under operating leases 

having variable rental income is recognised as per the term of the contract. 

 
Lease incentives that are paid or payable to the lessee are deducted from lease payments. Accordingly, tenant lease 

incentives are recognised as a reduction of rental revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The lease term 

is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any further term for which the tenant has the option to continue the 

lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the Company is reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise that option. 

 
The initial direct costs and tenant lease incentives are presented as other assets in the line item ‘Prepaid expenses’ in the 

Balance sheet. 

 
Amounts received from tenants to terminate leases or to compensate for dilapidations are recognised in the statement of 

profit or loss when the right to receive them arises. 

 
u) Cash dividend to equity holders of the Company 

 

The Company recognises a liability to make cash distributions to equity holders of the Company when the distribution is 

authorised and the distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Company. Final dividends on shares are recorded as a 

liability on the date of approval by the shareholders and interim dividends are recorded as a liability on the date of 

declaration by the Company's Board of Directors. 
 

3 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the recognition and measurement principles of Ind AS requires 

management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported balances of revenues, expenses, assets and 

liabilities and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and 

estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future 

periods. 

a) Judgements 
 

In the process of applying the accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have the most 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 

 
The Company has entered into commercial property leases on its investment properties. The Company has determined, based 

on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements such as the lease term not constituting a substantial portion of 

the economic life of the commercial property, that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these 

properties and so accounts for the contracts as operating leases. 
 

b) Estimates and assumptions 
 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a 

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, 

are described below. The Company based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements 

were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market 

changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Company. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions 

when they occur. 

i) Taxes 
 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 

against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of 

deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with 

future tax planning strategies. 
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ii) Fair value measurement of financial instruments 

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured based on 

quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the DCF model. The 

inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of 

judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit 

risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. 

See Note 32 for further disclosures. 
 

iii) Valuation of Investment property 
 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of investment property exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of 

its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value of investment property is determined by an 

independent valuation specialist using recognised valuation techniques and the principles of Ind AS 113 Fair Value 

Measurement. The fair value of investment property is based on discounted cash flows. The fair value is sensitive to the 

discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for 

extrapolation purposes. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is 

not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. The significant methods used by the specialist in 

estimating the fair value of investment property are set out in Note 4.2. 

 

iv) Lease rental income 

Lease revenue is recognized, in accordance with the terms of lease contracts over the lease term on a straight line basis. 

With regard to lease agreements based on the revenue share which are not subject to straight lining, the Company 

recognises the rental income based on the estimated sales of the customers based on past trends and expectations. Any 

changes in the estimated sales of the customers could affect the revenue recognised in profit and loss account. 
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment 
 

 

Office 

equipment 

 

Freehold 

land 

 
Buildings 

Leasehold 

Improvement 

 
Computers 

Plant and
 

machinery 

 

Electrical 

Installation 

 

Furniture and 

fixtures 

(Rs. in millions) 

Total 

 
Cost or valuation 

At 01 April 2021 
 

75.12 
 

86.13 
 

587.12 
 

0.26 
 

24.02 
 

136.35 
 

68.28 
 

114.64 
 

1,091.93 

Additions 0.01 - - - 0.32 10.76 1.67 0.46 13.23 

Disposals - - - - - - - - - 

At 31 March 2022 75.13 86.13 587.12 0.26 24.34 147.10 69.96 115.10 1,105.15 

Additions 0.01 - 13.92 - 0.56 17.93 0.72 1.07 34.19 

Disposals - - - - - - - - - 

At 31 March 2023 75.14 86.13 601.04 0.26 24.90 165.03 70.67 116.17 1,139.35 

 

Depreciation and impairment 

At 01 April 2021 

 

 
71.19 

 

 
- 

 

 
255.95 

 

 
0.26 

 

 
19.72 

 

 
37.73 

 

 
20.62 

 

 
48.85 454.31 

Depreciation charge for the year 2.73 - 9.77 - 2.21 9.30 6.89 14.26 45.16 

Disposals - - - - - - - - - 

At 31 March 2022 73.92 - 265.72 0.26 21.94 47.02 27.51 63.11 499.48 

Depreciation charge for the year 0.98 - 9.93 - 1.45 10.22 7.04 14.24 43.86 

Disposals - - - - - - - - - 

At 31 March 2023 74.90 - 275.65 0.26 23.39 57.25 34.55 77.35 543.34 

 
Net Book value 

         

At 01 April 2021 3.93 86.13 331.17 0.00 4.30 98.62 47.67 65.79 637.61 

At 31 March 2022 1.21 86.13 321.40 0.00 2.41 100.08 42.45 52.00 605.69 

At 31 March 2023 0.24 86.13 325.39 0.00 1.51 107.78 36.12 38.82 596.00 
 

Note: 

a) Property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of Rs. 596 million (March 31, 2022 - Rs. 605.69 million) are subject to a first charge to secure the Company’s bank loans. 
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4.2 Investment property 

 

 

 
Other assets forming part of Building 

 

 
(Rs. in millions) 

 

Freehold land Buildings 

 
Leasehold 

Computers 
land 

 
Plant and 

machinery 

 
Electrical 

Installation 

 
Furniture and 

fixtures 

Right- of- use asset 

(Leasehold land) 

(refer note 30(a)(ii)) 

 

Total 

 
 

 
Cost or valuation 

At 01 April 2021 
 

3,137.29 
 

7,513.05 
 

10.51 
 

36.02 
 

1,688.38 
 

806.20 
 

253.92 
 

46.24 
 

13,491.60 

Additions - 27.69 - - - 0.02 - - 27.71 

Disposals - - - - - - - - - 

At 31 March 2022 3,137.29 7,540.74 10.51 36.02 1,688.38 806.22 253.92 46.24 13,519.32 

Additions - 79.17 - - - - - - 79.17 

Disposals - - - - - - - - - 

At 31 March 2023 3,137.29 7,619.90 10.51 36.02 1,688.38 806.22 253.92 46.24 13,598.49 

 

Depreciation and impairment 

At 01 April 2021 

 

 
- 

 

 
428.86 

 

 
0.54 

 

 
27.10 

 

 
385.88 

 

 
277.54 

 

 
99.80 

 

 
1.61 

 

 
1,221.33 

Charge for the year - 129.20 0.11 4.07 114.04 82.08 25.70 3.22 358.42 

Disposals - - - - - - - - - 

At 31 March 2022 - 558.06 0.65 31.16 499.93 359.62 125.49 4.83 1,579.75 

Charge for the year - 126.67 0.11 2.02 113.56 81.19 26.15 3.22 352.92 

Disposals - - - - - - - - - 

At 31 March 2023 - 684.72 0.76 33.18 613.49 440.81 151.65 8.05 1,932.67 

 
Net Book value 

         

At 01 April 2021 3,137.29 7,084.19 9.97 8.93 1,302.50 528.66 154.12 44.63 12,270.26 

At 31 March 2022 3,137.29 6,982.68 9.86 4.86 1,188.46 446.60 128.42 41.41 11,939.56 

At 31 March 2023 3,137.29 6,935.18 9.75 2.84 1,074.89 365.41 102.27 38.19 11,665.82 

Note: 

a) Investment property with a carrying amount of Rs.11,665.82 million (March 31, 2022 - Rs. 11,939.56 million) are subject to a first charge to secure the Company’s bank loans. 

b) No revaluation of PPE & Intangible assets has been performed during the year. 
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Information regarding income and expenditure of investment property 

(Rs. in millions) 

 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Rental income derived from investment properties 

 
1,857.84 

 
1,669.41 

Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) generating rental income (515.14) (347.25) 

Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) that did not generate rental income (164.96) (135.80) 

Profit arising from investment properties before depreciation and indirect expenses 1,177.74 1,186.36 

Less:- Depreciation (352.92) (358.42) 

Profit arising from investment properties before indirect expenses 824.82 827.95 

 

The management has determined that the investment properties consist of two classes of assets – office and retail- based on the nature, characteristics and risks of each property. 

As at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the fair values of the properties are Rs. 23,648 million and Rs. 23,871 million respectively. These valuations are based on valuations 

performed by Cushman & Wakefield (India) Pvt Ltd, an accredited independent valuer. As at March 31, 2023 the management doesn't foresee any material change in the fair values 

which was determined as at December 31, 2022. 

The fair value of investment property is based on discounted cash flows and classified as level 3 fair value in the fair value hierarchy due to the use of unobservable inputs. Fair value 

hierarchy for investment property has been provided in Note 32. 

 

 

 

 

 
This space is intentionally left blank 
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4.3 Capital work in progress ( including investment property under construction) (Rs. in millions) 

Total 

As at 1 April 2021 

- Additions (subsequent expenditure) 

- Capitalised during the year 

As at 31 March 2022 

- Additions (subsequent expenditure) 

- Capitalised during the year 

As at 31 March 2023 

1.58 

0.24 

- 

1.82 

6.62 

(0.06) 

8.38 
 

 

Capital work in progress ("CWIP") Aging Schedule 

As at 31 March 2023 

Amount of CWIP for a period of 

Particulars Less than 1 

year 

1- 2 years 2 - 3 years  More than 

3 years 
Total 

 
 

 

Projects in progress 6.56 0.24 - 1.58 8.38 

Projects temporarily suspended - - - - - 

As at 31 March 2022 

Amount of CWIP for a period of 

Particulars Less than 1 

year 

1- 2 years 2 - 3 years  More than 

3 years 

Total 

 

 
Projects in progress 0.24 - - 1.58 1.82 

Projects temporarily suspended - - - - - 

 

 
Note: 

a) Capital work-in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction amounting to Rs. 8.38 million as at March 

31, 2023 (March 31, 2022 - Rs. 1.82 million). 

b) Capital work-in progress with carrying amount of Rs. 8.38 million (March 31, 2022 - Rs. 1.82 million ) are subject to a first 

charge to secure the Company’s bank loans. 

c) There is no Capital work in progress whose completion is overdue or has exceeded its cost compare to its original plan. 

 
 

 

5 

 

Investments 
  

 
(Rs. in millions) 

  31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

  
Non-current investments: 

Investments carried at fair value through profit and loss 

Investment in the capital of partnership firm 

0.01% (March 31, 2022 - 0.01%) share in the profits of partnership firm: 

  

 Virtuous Retail Property Services LLP - Capital account 0.00 0.00 

 Virtuous Retail Property Services LLP - Current account 

Unquoted equity shares 

1 (March 31, 2022- 1) equity share of VR Vidarbha Limited 

0.01 

 
0.00 

0.01 

 
0.00 

 1 (March 31, 2022- 1) equity share of VR Majha Limited 0.00 0.00 

 Total investments carried at fair value through profit and loss 0.01 0.01 

 
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 

Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments 

0.01 

- 

0.01 

- 
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Details of investments in partnership firms 

Investment in Virtuous Retail Property Services LLP 

Name of Partner 
Share of partn 

31-Mar-23 

er in profits (%) 

31-Mar-22 

 
VR Dakshin Private Limited 

 
0.01 

 
0.01 

Moribus Holdings Pte.Ltd 99.99 99.99 

Total capital of the firm (Rs. in million) 0.20 0.20 
   

 
6 Inventories (valued at lower of cost and net realizable value) 

  

 
(Rs. in millions) 

 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Food and beverages 

 
3.83 

 
1.39 

Hotel consumables 14.30 16.97 
 18.13 18.36 

   

 
7 Trade receivables 

  

 
(Rs. in millions) 

Current 
 
 

 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Trade receivables 

 
178.35 

 
240.03 

Receivables from related parties (refer note 26) 0.08 - 

Total Trade receivables 178.43 240.03 

 
Trade receivables 

Secured, considered good 

 

 
122.76 

 

 
197.41 

Unsecured, considered good 55.67 42.62 

Trade Receivables - credit impaired 495.76 466.21 

 
Impairment Allowance (allowance for bad and doubtful debts) 

674.20 706.24 

Trade Receivables - credit impaired (495.76) (466.21) 

 178.43 240.03 

Total Trade receivables 178.43 240.03 

 
No trade or other receivable are due from directors or other officers of the company either severally or jointly with any other person. 

Nor any trade or other receivable are due from firms or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner, a director or 

a member. 

Trade receivables are interest bearing and are generally on terms of 7 to 30 days. 
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Trade Receivables Aging Schedule 

As at 31 March 2023 

 

 

 

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payments* 

 

 

(Rs. in millions) 

Particulars 
Current 

but not 

due 

Less than 6 

months 

6 months - 

1 year 

1- 2 years 2- 3 years More than 3 

years 
Total 

Undisputed trade-receivables - - 81.46 11.77 23.81 (3.97) 0.54 113.61 

considered good        

Undisputed trade-receivables - - - - - - - - 

which have significant increase        

in credit risk        

Undisputed trade-receivables - 1.97 35.85 72.73 67.74 51.65 103.80 333.74 

credit impaired        

Disputed trade-receivables - - 2.76 5.88 27.29 18.78 10.11 64.82 

considered good        

Disputed trade-receivables - - - - - - - - 

which have significant increase        

in credit risk        

Disputed trade-receivables - - 5.34 21.76 52.60 36.40 45.93 162.03 

credit impaired        

Total 1.97 125.41 112.14 171.44 102.86 160.38 674.20 
 

* similar information where no due date of payment is specified in that case disclosure is made from the date of the transaction. 
 

As at 31 March 2022 
 

 

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payments* 

 

(Rs. in millions) 

Particulars 
Current 

but not 

due 

Less than 6 

months 

6 months - 

1 year 

1- 2 years 2- 3 years More than 3 

years 
Total 

Undisputed trade-receivables - - 146.89 32.58 6.38 5.18 1.10 192.13 

considered good     

Undisputed trade-receivables - - - - - - - - 

which have significant increase     

in credit risk     

Undisputed trade-receivables - - 73.13 24.97 76.98 39.77 74.28 289.12 

credit impaired     

Disputed trade-receivables - - 5.21 8.21 27.72 5.34 1.42 47.90 

considered good     

Disputed trade-receivables - - - - - - - - 

which have significant increase     

in credit risk     

Disputed trade-receivables - - 26.54 51.68 

credit impaired 

48.83 24.15 25.89 177.09 

Total - 251.77 117.44 159.91 74.44 102.69 706.24 
 

* similar information where no due date of payment is specified in that case disclosure is made from the date of the transaction. 
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8 Other financial assets   

(Rs. in millions) 

 Current 

31-Mar-23  31-Mar-22 

Non-current 

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Others 

Security deposits 

 

 
1.90 1.91 

 

 
45.81 39.91 

Unbilled revenue 118.48 199.98 - - 

Non-current bank balances (refer note 10) - - 22.29 7.92 

Interest accrued on fixed deposits 7.61 7.28 - - 
 127.99 209.16 68.11 47.83 

   

 
9 Other assets 

  

 
(Rs. in millions) 

 Current 

31-Mar-23  31-Mar-22 

Non-current 

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 

Capital advances 

Unsecured, considered good (refer note 31(B)) 

 

 
- - 

 

 
158.42 160.85 

Advances receivable in cash or kind 

Unsecured, considered good 

 

19.32 27.57 

 

- - 

Others 

Prepaid expenses 

 

24.23 19.36 

 

25.71 31.60 

Balances with statutory/ government authorities - - 3.23 3.31 

 43.55 46.93 187.35 195.76 
   

 

10 Cash and bank balances 
  

 

(Rs. in millions) 
 Current Non-current 

 
 

 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Cash and cash equivalents 
    

Balances with banks:     

– On current accounts 76.10 90.50 - - 

Cash on hand 1.07 1.49 - - 

 77.18 91.99 - - 

Bank balance other than cash 

and cash equivalents 

    

– Deposits with maturity for less 

than 12 months 

- 67.36 - - 

– Margin money deposit 331.68 271.63 22.29 7.92 

 331.68 338.99 22.29 7.92 

Less: Amount disclosed under non-current financial 

assets (refer note 8) 

 
- (22.29) (7.92) 

 408.85 430.98 - - 

Margin money deposits given as security 

Margin money deposits with a carrying amount of Rs. 344.41 million (March 31, 2022 - Rs. 269.12 million) are subject to first 

charge to secure the Company’s bank loans. Margin money deposits with a carrying amount of Rs. 9.56 million (March 31, 2022 - 

Rs.10.43 million) has been pledged against certain bank guarantees. 

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between seven day and three months, depending on the immediate cash 

requirements of the Company, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. 
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For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 

 (Rs. in millions) 
  31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Balances with banks: 

   

– On current accounts  76.10 90.50 

Cash on hand  1.07 1.49 
  77.18 91.99 

 
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities : 

   

   (Rs. in millions) 

Particulars Non- 

current 

borrowings 

Current 

borrowings 

(including 

Total 

  current  

  maturities)  

Balance as at April 1, 2021 13,364.27 690.10 14,054.37 

Cash inflows - 36.90 36.90 

Cash Outflows (421.29) (12.74) (434.03) 

Others* (211.41) 211.41 - 

Net debt as at March 31, 2022 12,731.56 925.68 13,657.24 

Cash inflows 130.00 94.87 224.87 

Cash Outflows (626.40) (59.00) (685.40) 

Others* (87.65) 87.65 - 

Net debt as at March 31, 2023 12,147.52 1,049.19 13,196.71 

 

 
* Others indicate the effect of movement in reclassification of current portion of long-term borrowings to other financial liabilities 

basis the balance repayment period. 

 

 
Break up of financial assets carried at amortised cost   

(Rs. in millions) 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Trade receivables (refer note 7) 

 
178.43 

 
240.03 

Other financial assets (refer note 8) 196.10 257.00 

Cash and bank balances (refer note 10) 408.85 430.98 

Total financial assets carried at amortised cost 783.39 928.00 

 

Note: Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets which generate a fixed or variable interest income for the Company. 

The carrying value may be affected by changes in the credit risk of the counterparties. 
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11  Share Capital   

(Rs. in millions) 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Authorised shares 

150,000 (March 31, 2022 - 150,000) equity shares of Rs.10 each 

 

 
1.50 

 

 
1.50 

Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up shares 

19,990 (March 31, 2022 - 19,990) equity shares of Rs.10 each 

 

0.20 

 

0.20 

Total issued, subscribed and fully paid-up share capital 0.20 0.20 

 
(a) Reconciliation of the shares outstanding at the beginning and end of the reporting year 

  

 

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

No of Shares Rs. in million No of Shares Rs. in million 
 

 
Equity shares 

At the beginning of the year 19,990 0.20 19,990 0.20 

Outstanding at the end of the year 19,990 0.20 19,990 0.20 

(b) Terms/ rights attached to equity shares 

All equity shares rank equally with regard to share in the Company’s residual assets. The equity shares are entitled to receive 

dividend as declared from time to time. The voting rights of an equity shareholder on a poll (not on show of hands) are in 

proportion to its share of the paid-up equity capital of the Company. Voting rights cannot be exercised in respect of shares on 

which any call or other sums presently payable have not been paid. Failure to pay any amount called up on shares may lead to 

forfeiture of the shares. On winding up of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive the residual assets 

of the Company, remaining after distribution of all preferential amounts in proportion to the number of equity shares held. 

(c) Shares held by holding/ ultimate holding company and/ or their subsidiaries/ associates 

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

No of Shares Rs. in million No of Shares Rs. in million 

Equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid up 

Moribus Holdings Pte Limited, Singapore 19,989 0.20 19,989 0.20 

(d) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company 

31-Mar-23 

No of Shares  Holding 

percentage 

31-Mar-22 

No of Shares  Holding 

percentage 
 

 
Equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid up 

Moribus Holdings Pte Limited, Singapore 19,989 99.99% 19,989 99.99% 

 
Note : As per records of the Company, including its register of shareholders/ members and other declaration received from 

shareholders regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represent both legal and beneficial ownership of shares. 
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(e) Details of Shares held by promoters 

As at March 31, 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

As at March 31, 2022 

 
 

Promoter name 

No. of Shares 

at the 

beginning of 

the year 

 
Change during 

the year 

 
No. of shares at 

the end of year 

 
% of total 

shares 

% Change 

during the 

year 

Equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid 

up 

Moribus Holdings Pte Limited, Singapore 

 

 

19,989 

 

 

- 

 

 

19,989 

 

 

99.99% 

 

 

- 

Total 19,989 - 19,989 99.99% - 

 

 

 
12  Other equity   

(Rs. in millions) 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Equity component of convertible debentures 

Balance at the beginning of the year 

 

 
343.10 

 

 
343.10 

Closing balance 343.10 343.10 

 
Securities premium account 

Balance at the beginning of the year 

 

 
1,599.59 

 

 
1,599.59 

Closing balance 1,599.59 1,599.59 

 
Deficit in the statement of profit and loss 

Balance at the beginning of the year 

 

 
(5,441.31) 

 

 
(4,464.65) 

Loss for the year (935.11) (977.20) 

Other comprehensive income 

Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans 

 
0.97 

 
0.54 

Net deficit in the statement of profit and loss (6,375.47) (5,441.31) 

   

Total other equity (4,432.78) (3,498.63) 
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Promoter name 

No. of Shares 

at the 

beginning of 

the year 

 
Change during 

the year 

 
No. of shares at 

the end of year 

 
% of total 

shares 

 

% Change 

during the 

year 

Equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid 

up 

Moribus Holdings Pte Limited, Singapore 

 

 

19,989 

 

 

- 

 

 

19,989 

 

 

99.99% 

 

 

- 

Total 19,989 - 19,989 99.99% - 
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13  Borrowings 

(Rs. in millions) 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Non-current borrowings 
  

Unsecured debentures   

448 (March 31, 2022 - 448) Listed & tradable redeemable non-convertible debentures 4,480.00 4,480.00 

[RNCD] of Rs.10 million each *   

1,300 (March 31, 2022 -Nil) Unlisted redeemable non-convertible debentures 130.00 - 

[Unlisted RNCD] of Rs. 0.1 million each #   

190,227,500 (March 31, 2022 - 190,227,500) Fully compulsorily convertible 638.63 638.63 

debentures [FCCD] of Rs.10 each**   

Secured loans 
  

Term loans from banks 3,780.41 3,998.04 

4,725 (March 31, 2022 - 4,725 ) Listed & tradable redeemable non- convertible bonds of Rs. 1 3,836.27 4,245.03 

million each   

 7,616.68 8,243.08 

Current maturities of long term borrowings (717.80) (630.15) 

Net amount 6,898.88 7,612.93 

Total non-current borrowings 12,147.52 12,731.56 

Current borrowings 
  

Secured loans 
  

Cash credit from banks 331.39 276.54 

Term loans from banks 717.80 630.15 

 1,049.19 906.68 

Unsecured loans 
  

Inter Corporate deposits (refer note 26) - 19.00 

Total current borrowings 1,049.19 925.68 

 
*448 RNCD's (March 31, 2022: 448) of face value Rs. 10,000,000 issued on February 04, 2015 to Argos Holdings Pte Ltd, 

Singapore, will be redeemed on February 03, 2035. RNCDs shall carry a coupon rate of 12% p.a. with effect from the date of 

issuance upto the date of redemption. On November 07, 2016, these 448 RNCDs of Rs. 10,000,000 each aggregating to Rs. 

4,480,000,000 were transferred from Argos Holding Pte Ltd, Singapore to Robusta Holdings Pte Ltd, Singapore. These RNCD's 

carry a coupon rate of 12% p.a. and payable on a quarterly basis or on a pay-as-able basis based on sufficiency of funds available 

with the Company. 

The Company has obtained confirmation from debenture holder i.e. Robusta Holdings Pte. Ltd for deferment of interest payment for 

the year ended March 31, 2023, March 31, 2022, March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020 due to insufficiency of funds and accordingly 

classified the interest payable for the year under non-current financial liabilities as interest accrued but not due on borrowings. Also, 

refer note 14. 

 

#1,300 Unlisted RNCD's (March 31, 2022: NIL) of face value Rs. 1,00,000 issued as (i) Tranche I on June 21, 2022 and (ii) Tranche 

II on July 07, 2022 to Robusta Holding Pte Ltd, having a maturity of 15 years. These unlisted RNCD's carry a coupon rate of 12% 

p.a. and payable on an annual basis or on a pay-as-able basis based on sufficiency of funds available with the Company. 

 

**190,227,500 FCCDs (March 31, 2022 : 190,227,500) of face value Rs. 10 each were issued to Vassam Limited during the year 

ended March 31, 2012 which were subsequently transferred to Virtuous Retail Pte Limited during the year ended March 31, 2014. 

These debentures will be converted into equity shares in the first board meeting to be held after March 2024. The conversion ratio 

shall be one equity share against each 100,000 FCCD. The conversion price shall be Rs. 1,000,000 per equity share. These FCCDs 

carried a coupon rate of 15% p.a. with effect from date of issuance upto March 31, 2012 and 12% p.a. thereafter upto March 31, 

2014 and 15% p.a. for rest of the period till the conversion. Interest shall be paid on a quarterly basis and the dates for payment of 

interest shall be March 31, June 30, September 30, and December 31 of each year. The Board of Directors in their meeting held on 

November 04, 2016 approved the transfer of 190,227,500 fully compulsorily convertible debentures of Rs. 10 each aggregating to 

Rs. 1,902,275,000 as at September 30, 2016 from Virtuous Retail Pte Limited, Singapore to Moribus Holdings Pte. Limited, 

Singapore. 
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The above mentioned FCCDs, RNCDs and unlisted RNCDs and the interest thereon ("subordinated liabilities") have been 

subordinated to the LRDL facilities provided by the creditors banks. Accordingly, the subordinated liabilities cannot be repaid / 

settled until after the final settlement of the LRDL outstanding balances provided, however that the Company may undertakes 

repayment permitted by the creditor banks subject to the terms and conditions of the subordination deed . 

 

The Company had issued 448 redeemable non-convertible debentures ('NCD') of Rs.10,000,000 each on February 04, 2015, which 

were listed on BSE Limited ('BSE') on February 04, 2015. Further, the Company had issued 4,725 secured redeemable non- 

convertible bonds of Rs.1,000,000 each on December 20, 2018, which were listed on BSE Limited ('BSE') on January 09, 2019. 

 

(A) Non-current borrowings 

 

(i) Unsecured debentures 

 
 

Particulars Amount outstanding 

( Rs. in million) 

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Effective 

Interest rate 

Security details Repayment terms 

 

 
Redeemable Non 

Convertible Debentures 

(RNCD) 

4,480.00 4,480.00 12% No securities against 

the debentures. 

Repayable on February 03, 

2035. 

Redeemable Non 130.00 - 12% No securities against (i) Tranche I - June 21, 2037 

Convertible Debentures    the debentures. (ii) Tranche II - July 07, 2037 

(Unlisted RNCD)      

Fully Compulsorily 638.63 638.63 14.40% No securities against Convertible into equity shares 

Convertible Debentures 

(FCCD) 

   the debentures. in the first board meeting to be 

held after March 2024. 
 

(ii) Secured loans 

 
 

Particulars Amount outstanding 

( Rs. in million) 

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Effective 

Interest rate 

Security details Repayment terms 

 

 

Term loans from banks 2,307.70 2,388.14 8% - 11% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Term loans from banks 90.21 93.82 8% - 11% 

Secured by exclusive 

mortgage on the 

property, exclusive 

charge by way of 

hypothecation on 

certain assets in 

relation to the 

property. 

Secured by exclusive 

mortgage on the 

property, exclusive 

charge by way of 

hypothecation on 

certain assets in 

relation to the 

property. 

One hundred and fifty 

instalments from the date of 

first utilisation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
One hundred and forty four 

instalments from the date of 

first utilisation. 

 

Term loans from banks 92.93  102.14 8% - 11% Secured by exclusive 

mortgage on the 

property, exclusive 

charge by way of 

hypothecation on 

certain assets in 

relation to the 

property. 

One hundred and forty one 

instalments from the date of 

first utilisation. 
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Particulars Amount outstanding 

( Rs. in million) 

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Effective 

Interest rate 

Security details Repayment terms 

 

 

Term loans from banks 1,289.56 1,413.95 7% - 10% Secured by exclusive 

mortgage on the 

property, exclusive 

charge by way of 

hypothecation on 

certain assets in 

relation to the 

property. 

One hundred and thirty 

instalments from the date of 

first utilisation. 

 

Redeemable Non 

Convertible Bonds 

3,836.27 4,245.03 7% - 11% Secured by exclusive 

mortgage on the 

property, exclusive 

charge by way of 

hypothecation on 

certain assets in 

relation to the 

property. 

One hundred and twenty three 

instalments from the date of 

first utilisation. 

 
 

(B) Current borrowings 

 
(i) Secured loans 

 
 

Particulars Amount outstanding 

( Rs. in million) 

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Effective 

Interest rate 

Security details Repayment terms 

 

 

Cash credit 92.33 85.14 8% - 11% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Cash credit 239.06 191.40 9% - 10% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Inter Corporate deposits - 19.00 14.00% 

Secured by exclusive 

mortgage on the 

property, exclusive 

charge by way of 

hypothecation on 

certain assets in 

relation to the 

property. 

 
Secured by exclusive 

mortgage on the 

property, exclusive 

charge by way of 

hypothecation on 

certain assets in 

relation to the 

property. 

 
No securities against 

the loan 

Repayable on demand. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Repayable on demand. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Repayable within 12 months 

from date of loan. 

 

The Company has borrowings from banks on the basis of security of current assets during any point of time of the year. There are no 

requirements of filing Quarterly returns or statements with banks as per the terms of the borrowing in this regard. 

 

This space is intentionally left blank 
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14  Other financial liabilities   

(Rs. in millions) 
  31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

  

Non-current 
  

Security deposits  123.07 134.31 

Interest accrued but not due on borrowings (refer note 26)  2,162.14 1,612.78 

Payable to capital creditors  18.29 18.63 

Total non-current other financial liabilities  2,303.50 1,765.72 

 
Current 

  

Interest accrued and due on borrowings  649.07 427.50 

Others   

Security deposit  871.76 858.79 

Payable to capital creditors  6.56 3.26 

Unearned income  12.84 1.39 

Total other current financial liabilities  1,540.24 1,290.93 

   

Total other financial liabilities  3,843.74 3,056.65 

   

 
15  Other Liabilities 

  

  (Rs. in millions) 

 Current Non-current 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Advance from customers 

 
43.36 36.23 

 
- - 

Payable towards statutory dues 11.03 22.15 - - 

Payable to employees 4.51 6.36 - - 
 58.91 64.74 - - 

   

 
16  Deferred revenue 

  

  (Rs. in millions) 

 Current Non-current 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Deferred revenue 

 
12.48 15.94 

 
11.22 19.61 

 12.48 15.94 11.22 19.61 

   

 
17  Provisions 

  

  (Rs. in millions) 

 Short term Long term 

 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Provision for employee benefits 

  

Provision for gratuity (refer note 0.27 0.38 1.72 2.79 

28) 

Provision for leave benefits* 
 

1.15 1.96 
 

- - 
 1.41 2.35 1.72 2.79 

 

* Compensated absences is calculated in respect of leave obligation based on number of leave days outstanding at the end of 

the reporting period. There are no actuarial assumptions being used in assessing the estimated liability, like, attrition rate, 

discount rate, salary escalation rate, etc. which otherwise may be required as per Ind AS 19, as applicable. The management 

has not determined the defined benefit obligation towards Compensated absence actuarially, using Projected Unit Credit 

Method as required under Ind AS 19 - Employee Benefits. The impact of deviation from the requirement of Accounting 

Standard 15, if any, is not expected to be material on the financial statements 
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18  Income tax 

 
a) Tax expenses 

 
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 are: 

 
Statement of profit and loss: 

Profit or loss section 

  
(Rs. in millions) 

 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Current income tax: 

Current income tax charge 

 

- 

 

- 

 - - 

Deferred tax: 

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 

 
- 

 
0.00 

Deferred tax impact on accounting for compound financial instruments 11.85 2.19 

Deferred tax impact on fair valuation of financial assets and financial liabilities (0.38) 0.12 

Deferred tax impact on other adjustments (1.41) (3.21) 

Deferred tax impact on Right- of- use asset (1.00) 0.67 

 9.06 (0.23) 
   

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss 9.06 (0.23) 

 

OCI section 

  

Deferred tax related to items recognised in OCI during the year:   

 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Net loss/(gain) on remeasurements of defined benefit plans 0.34 0.19 

Income tax charge to OCI 0.34 0.19 

 
Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by India’s domestic tax rate for March 31, 2023 

and March 31, 2022: 

(Rs. in millions) 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Accounting loss before income tax (926.06) (977.43) 

Tax on accounting loss at statutory income tax rate 26% (March 31, 2022: 26%) - - 

Deferred tax on other adjustments 9.06 (0.23) 

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences - - 

At the effective income tax rate of Nil (March 31, 2022: Nil) 9.06 (0.23) 

Tax expense reported in the Statement of profit or loss 9.06 (0.23) 
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b) Deferred tax   
(Rs. in millions) 

 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Deferred tax liabilities 
  

Difference between carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment & investment 858.06 769.92 

property in financial statement and the income tax return 

On account of straight lining of rental income 
 

16.36 
 

14.50 

On accounting for compound financial instruments 405.21 393.36 

On fair valuation of financial assets and financial liabilities 1.31 1.68 

On account of remeasurements of defined benefit plans 0.34 0.49 

On account of other adjustments 8.25 9.82 

Gross deferred tax liabilities 1,289.53 1,189.77 

 
 

Deferred tax assets 

  

On account of interest disallowed on payment made to non-residents 626.19 604.79 

On account of provision for gratuity & leave encashment 0.81 1.34 

On account of impairment of financial assets 128.90 121.21 

On account of impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 57.25 57.25 

On account of carried forward losses * 57.94 - 

On account of right- of- use asset 2.04 1.04 

On account of other adjustments 3.36 0.16 

Gross deferred tax assets 876.48 785.79 
   

Net deferred tax liabilities 413.04 403.98 

* The Company has carried forward losses of Rs. 4,819.95 million. The management has recognised deferred tax asset on 

losses amounting to Rs. 222.84 million 

Reconciliation of deferred tax liabilities (net): 

(Rs. in millions) 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Balance at the beginning of the year 403.98 404.40 

Tax income/(expense) during the year recognised in profit or loss 9.06 (0.23) 

Tax income/(expense) during the year recognised in OCI (0.34) (0.19) 

Closing balance 412.69 403.98 

The Company offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and 

current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 

authority. 
 

19  Trade payables 
  

(Rs. in millions) 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Trade payables 
  

- Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 14.41 16.59 

- Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 

enterprises (refer note 26) 

424.20 245.47 

 438.61 262.07 
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Trade Payable Aging Schedule 

As at 31 March 2023 
 

 

 
Particulars 

 Outstanding for following periods from due date of payments *  
 

Total 

Less than 1 

year 
1- 2 years 2- 3 years 

More than 3
 

years 

Total outstanding dues of micro 10.23 1.92 2.22 0.04 14.41 

enterprises and small enterprises      

Total outstanding dues of creditors 284.98 33.63 71.30 34.28 424.20 

other than micro enterprises and      

small enterprises      

Disputed dues of micro enterprises - - - - - 

and small enterprises      

Disputed dues of creditors other - - - - - 

than micro enterprises and small      

enterprises      

Total 295.21 35.55 73.52 34.33 438.61 

 

* similar information where no due date of payment is specified in that case disclosure is made from the date of the 

transaction. 

 

As at 31 March 2022 
 

 

 
Particulars  Outstanding for following periods from due date of payments *  

 
Total 

Less than 1 

year 
1- 2 years 2- 3 years 

More than 3
 

years 

Total outstanding dues of micro 15.08 1.46 0.02 0.02 16.59 

enterprises and small enterprises      

Total outstanding dues of creditors 216.74 16.37 8.31 4.05 245.47 

other than micro enterprises and      

small enterprises      

Disputed dues of micro enterprises - - - - - 

and small enterprises      

Disputed dues of creditors other - - - - - 

than micro enterprises and small      

enterprises      

Total 231.82 17.84 8.33 4.08 262.07 

* similar information where no due date of payment is specified in that case disclosure is made from the date of the 

transaction. 
 

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities: 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60 day terms. 

For explanations on the Company’s credit risk management processes, refer to note 33B. 

 
 

 
 Breakup of financial liabilities carried at amortised cost   

(Rs. in millions) 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Borrowings (refer note 13) 

 
13,196.71 

 
13,657.25 

Lease Liabilities 46.03 46.17 

Other financial liabilities (refer note 14) 3,843.74 3,056.65 

Trade payables (refer note 19) 438.61 262.07 

Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 17,525.09 17,022.13 
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20 Revenue from operations 

(Rs. in millions) 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Rental income from operating leases 

 
1,267.45 

 
1,168.59 

Revenue from contract with customers   

Operational and facility management charges   

Maintenance and marketing income 449.22 425.24 

Revenue from car parking 141.17 75.58 

Revenue from hotel operations 124.22 66.22 

Other operating revenue 

Share in profit/(loss) of Limited liability partnership from 

investments (post tax) 

 
0.00 0.00 

 

1,982.06 1,735.64 
 

 

20.1 Disaggregated revenue information 
 

Set out below is the disaggregation of the Company’s revenue (other than rental income) from contracts with customers by timing 

of transfer of goods or services. 
 

Timing of transfer of goods or services 

(Rs. in millions) 

  31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 

Revenue from goods or services transferred to customers at a point in time 
 

265.38 
 

141.80 

Revenue from goods or services transferred over time 449.22 425.24 

 714.60 567.04 

 
20.2 

 
Contract balances and performance obligations 

  

(Rs. in millions) 

 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 

Trade receivables 
 

92.74 
 

100.32 

Contract liabilities 12.84 1.39 

Revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in the contract 1.39 0.41 

liability balance at the beginning of the period   

Revenue recognised in the reporting period from performance obligations Nil Nil 

satisfied in previous periods   

 

Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance Nil Nil 

obligations that are unsatisfied as of the end of the reporting period   

 
21 Other income 

  

(Rs. in millions) 
  31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

  
Interest income 

  

 - On bank deposits 16.63 8.18 

 - On others 13.11 29.90 

 Other non-operating income 28.16 22.43 
  57.89 60.50 
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22 Employee benefits expense 

(Rs. in millions) 
  31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

  
Salaries, wages and bonus 

 
54.41 

 
76.33 

 Contribution to provident and other funds 0.99 1.64 

 Gratuity expense (refer note 28) 0.73 0.69 

 Compensated absence (0.32) 0.64 

 Staff welfare expenses 1.14 0.36 

  56.96 79.65 

    

 
23 

 
Depreciation and amortization expense 

  

(Rs. in millions) 
  31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

  
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 

 
43.86 

 
45.16 

 Depreciation on investment properties 352.92 358.42 
  396.78 403.58 

    

24 Other expenses   

(Rs. in millions) 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Marketing expenses 21.36 13.57 

Brokerage expenses 1.63 2.90 

Operations and management fees 100.53 24.37 

Housekeeping and security service 93.06 69.28 

Power, fuel and water 187.00 141.51 

Consumption 28.98 16.63 

Parking expenses 72.37 49.93 

Rent 1.37 1.40 

Repairs and maintenance   

Buildings 48.98 26.82 

Plant and equipment 33.18 11.96 

Insurance 20.75 20.94 

Rates and taxes 104.52 75.13 

Travelling and conveyance expenses 4.83 1.99 

Communication expenses 0.74 0.93 

Legal and professional fees (includes payment to auditor)* 142.71 52.34 

Printing and stationery 0.25 0.19 

Expected credit loss for trade receivables and contract assets 29.58 151.73 

Software expenses 14.78 6.11 

Miscellaneous expenses 11.61 22.56 
 918.22 690.28 
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* Payment to auditor # 
 

(Rs. in millions) 

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 
 

As auditor: 

Audit fee [including for Limited review Rs. 1.77 million (Previous year - Rs. 1.18 million)] 5.09 4.31 

In other capacity: 

Other services 1.43 1.17 

Reimbursement of expenses 0.08 0.08 

6.60 5.55 

# Net of taxes 

25 Finance costs 

(Rs. in millions) 

 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Interest 

  

- On borrowings 1,565.21 1,557.95 

- Interest on lease liabilities 5.54 5.53 

- Others 0.12 0.10 

Notional interest on lease deposit 18.99 32.81 

Bank charges 4.18 3.66 

Total finance costs 1,594.04 1,600.06 
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26 Related party transactions 

a) The following table provides the name of the related party and the nature of its relationship with the Company: 

Ultimate Holding Company 

Virtuous Retail South Asia Pte Ltd, Singapore 

 
Holding Company 

Moribus Holdings Pte. Ltd 

 
Fellow Subsidiaries 

Robusta Holdings Pte Ltd, Singapore 

VR Malwa Private Limited 

Virtuous Retail Property Services LLP 

VR Vidarbha Limited 

VR Majha Limited ( formerly Known as Alena Ventures Limited) 

VR Konkan Private Limited 

VR South Asia Private Limited 

 
Key Management Personnel (KMP) 

Rajendra Pai (Chief Financial Officer & Manager) (from November 22, 2019) 

Rashmi Sharma (Company Secretary) (from October, 2022) 

Sumi Gupta (Director) (from April 20, 2021) 

Tariq Maqbool Chinoy (Nominee Director) (from December 31, 2021) 

Anuj Duseja (Nominee Director) (resigned w.e.f June 15, 2022) 

Jay Dayani (Director) (December 23, 2022) 

Rohan Anand (Director) (from October 18, 2022) 

Pradeep Jyoti Banerjee (Nominee Director) (March 10, 2023) 

Sanjeev Kumar Jain (Director) (March 31, 2023) 
 

b) Details of the transactions with the related parties: 

(Rs. in millions) 

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 

I. Transactions with related parties 

  

Interest expense on Fully compulsorily convertible debentures (FCCD's) 

Moribus Holdings Pte. Ltd * 

 

239.77 

 

276.93 

Interest expense on Non-convertible debentures (RNCD's) 

Robusta Holdings Pte Ltd, Singapore * 549.36 537.60 

Inter corporate deposits (ICD) taken from related party 

VR Surat Private Limited 40.00 - 

VR South Asia Private Limited - 19.00 

VR Majha Limited - 39.75 

Inter corporate deposits (ICD) repaid to related party 

VR Surat Private Limited 

 
 

40.00 

 
 

- 

VR South Asia Private Limited 19.00 - 

VR Majha Limited - 39.75 

Interest Expense on ICD 

VR Surat Private Limited 

 
0.38 

 
- 

VR South Asia Private Limited 4.09 1.55 

VR Majha Limited - 1.36 

 

Mall management fee expense 

Virtuous Retail Property Services LLP 100.53 24.37 

Lease rental income 

Virtuous Retail Property Services LLP 0.02 2.58 

Legal and professional fees (Manpower Services) 

VR South Asia Private Limited 11.58 - 

Payments made by related party on behalf of the Company 

Virtuous Retail Property Services LLP 7.92 4.32 

74



VR Dakshin Private Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

 

VR Dakshin Private Limited | Annual Report FY 2022-23 

 

 
II. Transaction with key managerial personnel  

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 

Salary (including perquisites) 

Mr. Rajendra Pai 

 

 
1.17 

 

 
1.00 

Ms. Rashmi Sharma 0.60 - 

Mr. Jay Dayani 1.80 - 

Professional Fees 

Mr. Tariq Chinoy 

 

3.06 

 

1.94 

Mr. Sumi Gupta 3.56 2.98 

 
Reimbursement of Expenses 

Mr. Tariq Chinoy 

 

 
0.04 

 

 
0.11 

Ms. Sumi Gupta - 0.02 

 
 

c) Details of balances receivable from and payable to related parties are as follows: 

 
Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

I. Balances receivable from and payable to related parties 
  

Fully compulsorily convertible debentures (FCCD's) 

Moribus Holdings Pte. Ltd 
 

638.63 

 
638.63 

Listed & tradable redeemable non-convertible debentures (RNCD's) 

Robusta Holdings Pte Ltd, Singapore 4,480.00 4,480.00 

Unlisted & redeemable non-convertible debentures (Unlisted RNCD's) 

Robusta Holdings Pte Ltd, Singapore 130.00 - 

Interest accrued and due on borrowings 

Moribus Holdings Pte. Ltd * 648.23 408.46 

Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 

Robusta Holdings Pte Ltd, Singapore * 2,162.14 1,612.80 

Interest accrued but not due on ICD 

VR South Asia Private Limited - 1.55 

Investment in partnership - Capital account 

Virtuous Retail Property Services LLP 0.00 0.00 

Investment in partnership - Current account 

Virtuous Retail Property Services LLP 0.01 0.01 

Investment in unquoted equity shares 

Interest Expense on ICD 

 
0.00 

 
0.00 

VR Majha Limited 0.00 0.00 

Loans (Inter-corporate deposit) 
VR Konkan Private Limited 

 
- 

 
19.00 

Trade payables 
  

Virtuous Retail Property Services LLP 108.86 3.57 

VR South Asia Private Limited 11.58 - 

 
Trade receivable 

Virtuous Retail Property Services LLP 0.08 - 

Security deposits 

Virtuous Retail Property Services LLP 0.45 0.45 

 
* The interest expense on FCCD's RNCDs and unlisted RNCD's mentioned above are payable to existing debenture holders as on 

March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, however the actual beneficiary of the receipt of these amounts could be different at the time 

of actual payment. 
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27 Segment Information 
 

The Company is engaged in the business of real estate development w.r.t. mall development and management. As such, the 

Company operates in single business and geographical segment and hence disclosing information as per requirements of Ind AS 

108 "Operating Segments" is not required. 

 

28 Gratuity and other post-employment benefit plans 

(Rs. in millions) 

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Defined benefit plan 1.98 3.18 

Non-current 1.72 2.79 

Current 0.27 0.38 
 

Employees are entitled to a benefit equivalent to fifteen days' last drawn salary for each completed year of service in line with the 

Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972 subject to a maximum of Rs. 2 million. The same is payable at the time of separation from the 

Company or retirement, whichever is earlier. The benefits vest after five years of continuous service. The Company has not  

funded the liability as on March 31, 2023. 

 
Following figures are as per the actuarial valuation carried out by an independent actuary as at the Balance Sheet date: 

 

Changes in the projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets: 

(Rs. in millions) 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Change in projected benefit obligation 

Obligation at beginning of the year 

 

 
3.18 

 

 
3.03 

Service cost 0.54 0.98 

Interest cost 0.19 0.17 

Benefits directly paid 

Liability transfer 

Actuarial (gain)/loss (through OCI) 

(0.61) 

 
(1.31) 

(0.27) 

- 

(0.73) 

Obligation at end of the year 1.98 3.18 

 
Present value of projected benefit obligation at the end of the year 

 
1.98 

 
3.18 

Net liability recognised in the balance sheet 1.98 3.18 

 
Expenses recognised in statement of profit and loss 

Service cost 

 

 
0.54 

 

 
0.98 

Interest cost (net) 0.19 0.17 

Gratuity cost 0.73 1.15 

Net gratuity cost 0.73 1.15 

 
Re-measurement (gains)/ losses in OCI 

Actuarial (gain) / loss due to financial assumption changes 

 

 
(0.13) 

 

 
(0.07) 

Actuarial (gain) / loss due to experience adjustments (1.18) (0.66) 

Actuarial (gain) / loss due to demographic assumption changes - - 

Total expenses routed through OCI (1.31) (0.73) 

 
Assumptions 

  

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Discount rate 7.30% 6.05% 

Future salary increases 8.00% 8.00% 

Employee turnover 20.00% 20.00% 

Estimated rate of return on plan assets NA NA 
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A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumption and its impact on projected benefit obligation are as follows: 

(Rs. in millions) 

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Effect of + 1% change in rate of discounting 

 
(0.10) 

 
(0.16) 

Effect of - 1% change in rate of discounting 0.11 0.18 

Effect of + 1% change in rate of salary increase 0.10 0.18 

Effect of - 1% change in rate of salary increase (0.10) (0.16) 

Effect of + 1% change in rate of employee turnover (0.14) (0.35) 

Effect of - 1% change in rate of employee turnover 0.19 0.56 

 
The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on projected benefit 

obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period. 
 

The following payments are expected contributions to the projected benefit plan in future years (From Employer): 

(Rs. in millions) 

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Within the next 12 months 

 
0.27 

 
0.38 

Between 2 and 5 years 1.23 1.88 

Between 6 and 10 years 0.87 1.35 

Beyond 10 years 0.71 1.02 

Total expected payments 3.08 4.63 

Contributions likely to be made for next one year 0.27 0.38 
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29 Earnings per share ['EPS'] 
 

Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to equity holders by the weighted average number 

of Equity shares outstanding during the year. 

 
Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders (after adjusting for interest on the 

convertible debentures) by the weighted average number of Equity shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average 

number of Equity shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential Equity shares into Equity Shares. 
 

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computations: 

(Rs. in millions) 

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Loss after tax attributable to equity shareholders 

 
(935.11) 

 
(977.20) 

Effect of dilution - - 

Loss attributable to equity holders adjusted for the effect of dilution (935.11) (977.20) 
 

Weighted average number of equity shares for basic and diluted EPS (No. of shares 21,892) * 0.00 0.00 

Effect of dilution - - 
 

Weighted average number of equity shares adjusted for the effect of dilution (No.) 0.00 0.00 
 

* includes 1,902 shares to be issued on conversion of Fully and Compulsorily Convertible Debentures [FCCD] as at March 31, 2023 

and March 31, 2022. 

Note: Since the convertible debentures are anti dilutive, they have been ignored in the computation of diluted EPS. 
 

30 Commitments and contingencies 

 
a. Leases 

(i) Operating lease commitments - Company as lessor 
 

The Company is primarily engaged in the business of leasing mall and office space. The Company has entered into non-cancellable 

operating lease agreements with its lessees. The rental income under non cancellable operating lease for the year ended March 31, 

2023 amounts to Rs. 454.99 million (March 31, 2022: Rs. 484.99 million). The rental income under cancellable operating leases for 

the year amounts to Rs. 812.47 million (March 31, 2022: Rs.683.60 million) 

 

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating lease are as follows: 
 (Rs. in millions) 

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Within one year 

 
279.45 

 
358.67 

After one year but not more than five years 272.63 125.49 

More than five years - - 
 552.08 484.16 

(ii) Operating lease commitments - Company as lessee 
  

 
The Company has entered into a lease agreement towards land with Chennai Metropolitan Development Authority for a period of 15 

years. 
 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year: 

(Rs. in millions) 
Amount 

 

Balance as at April 1, 2021 44.63 

Add: Additions - 

Less: Depreciation charge (3.22) 

Balance as at March 31, 2022 41.41 

Add: Additions - 

Less: Depreciation charge (3.22) 

Balance as at March 31, 2023 38.19 
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Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year: 

(Rs. in millions) 

Amount 

Balance as at April 1, 2021 46.04 

Add: Additions - 

Add: Interest accrued 5.53 

Less: Payments made (5.41) 

Balance as at March 31, 2022 46.17 

Current 4.42 

Non-current 41.75 

Balance as at April 1, 2022 46.17 

Add: Additions 

Add: Interest accrued 

 - 

5.54 

Less: Payments made  (5.68) 

Balance as at March 31, 2023  46.03 

Current  4.12 

Non-current  41.91 

The effective interest rate for lease liabilities is 12%, with maturity on January 30, 2035 
  

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss: 
  

  (Rs. in millions) 

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Depreciation charge on right-of-use asset 

 
3.22 

 
3.22 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 5.54 5.53 

Expense relating to short-term leases (included in other expenses) 1.37 1.40 

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 10.12 10.16 

 
The amount of lease rentals towards cancellable lease agreement as lessee is Rs. 1.37 million (March 31, 2022 : Rs. 1.40 million). 

 
b. Commitments 

  

  (Rs. in millions) 

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Capital commitments   

The estimated amount of contracts, net of advances remaining to be executed 

on capital account and not provided for 

12.06 8.71 

c. Contingent liabilities (to the extent not provided for) 
  

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 
Guarantees given by the Company * 

 
183.96 

 
183.96 

Income tax matters in dispute (refer note (ii) below) 79.97 104.39 

Service tax & GST matters in dispute (refer note (ii) below) 86.02 86.02 

 349.95 374.37 

 
* Includes Bank Guarantee amounting to Rs. 96.73 million given on behalf of Ozone projects private limited pursuant to agreement 

as detailed in note 31(B). 
 

The Company does not expect any reimbursement in respect of the above contingent liability and it is not practicable to estimate the 

timings of the cash outflows, if any, in respect of matters above pending resolution of the arbitration/ appellate proceedings and it is 

not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the above obligations/claims. 

79



VR Dakshin Private Limited 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 

 

VR Dakshin Private Limited | Annual Report FY 2022-23 

 

 

Other litigations 
 

(i) In March 2014, the Tehsildar of East Taluk, K.R. Puram, Bengaluru, had issued a notice to the Company to stop the construction 

of the VR Mall, Bengaluru at Dyvasandra Village, Bengaluru East Taluk, citing inaccurate allegations against the Company when 

the mall was under construction. The Tehsildar was of the contention that the Company had build the compound area in the 

encroached land (“the disputed land”). 

 
The Company filed a writ petition in Honourable High Court of Karnataka (“the High Court”) against the said notice issued by the 

Tehsildar. A stay was granted by the High Court vide its order dated March 15, 2014 and also directed the Government of Karnataka 

to file its reply. The Government of Karnataka had filed its reply thereon. The High Court of Karnataka in its judgement dated 

February 16, 2016 had vacated the stay granted earlier and stated that the Government will take into consideration all the documents 

produced by the Company and would proceed further only after looking at all the documents. The High Court has also stated that 

the Company shall not be dispossessed of the disputed land otherwise other than under the process of law. On September 03, 2015, 

the Company had obtained final occupancy certificate for the Mall. 

 
A new order was passed by the Assistant Commissioner, Bengaluru North, sub-division dated March 08, 2017 stating that the 

disputed land possessed by the Company was encroached Government land reserved for public purpose. The Commissioner ordered 

to evict the Company from an extent of 4046.86 square meters of land and directed the Tehsildar, Bengaluru East Taluk to take 

action to evict the Company from the said land, resume it to Government and safeguard the same as ‘Government Property’. The 

Company had challenged the said order in the High Court of Karnataka. The High Court of Karnataka admitted the writ petition, 

granted a stay vide its order dated March 24, 2017 and has also directed the Government of Karnataka to file its reply. The 

Government of Karnataka and other respondents have not filed their objection till date. The Company has also filed a contempt 

petition on March 20, 2017 stating that new order issued by the Assistant Commissioner was against the earlier order issued by the 

High Court of Karnataka. 

During the year ended March 31, 2018, a Special court, had initiated a suo moto proceedings against the Company. On February 27, 

2018, the said Court has dismissed the proceedings and released the Company from the said proceedings. 

 
In order to safeguard its interest, Company has kept the writ petition open and the management of the Company does not expect any 

bearing on the matter whatsoever. 
 

(ii) In relation to certain income tax and service tax matters under dispute, the management of the Company is confident that the 

matters would be decided in their favour. Accordingly no provision has been made in the books in relation to such matters. 

 

(iii) During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company and a tenant had entered into lease agreement for the premise in VR 

Chennai where in tenant had paid security deposit of Rs. 7.60 million, however tenant had backed out before occupying the retail 

space. Subsequently the management had filled a claim and the arbitrator has given the order in the Company's favour in line with 

the clauses of the lease agreement. Claim amounting to Rs. 132 million along with 25% Interest from the date of claim has been 

awarded on March 22, 2021. The Company has not recognised any income during the year ended March 31, 2021 and the same will 

be recognised upon receipt and complete settlement of the litigation. 

 

31 Capital work-in-progress 
 

A) The Company has constructed Restaurants at VR Chennai and commenced commercial operations during the year and the 

expenditure incurred has been being capitalised from Capital work-in-progress ("CWIP") are as follows: 

VR Chennai Project: 

(Rs. in millions) 

Particulars April 1, 2022 Additions 

during the 

Total Capitalised * March 31, 2023 

Construction cost 1.82 6.62 8.44 (0.06) 8.38 

Total 1.82 6.62 8.44 (0.06) 8.38 
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*During the year assets have been capitalised from CWIP to the following blocks 

(Rs. in millions) 

Block Transfer from 

CWIP 

Buildings 0.06 

Plant and machinery - 

Electrical Installation - 

Furniture and fixtures - 

Office equipment - 

Total 0.06 
 

 
B) The Metrozone ("Chennai project") is a mixed use of residential cum commercial project being developed by Ozone Projects 

Private Limited (OPPL) and VR Dakshin Private Limited ("VR Dakshin" or "the Company"). The residential portion is to be 

developed by OPPL and the commercial portion is to be developed by VR Dakshin. As per the agreement executed between OPPL 

and VR Dakshin, OPPL was required to construct a retention wall in order to facilitate the commercial development undertaken by 

VR Dakshin. OPPL expressed its inability to construct the said retention wall and further OPPL requested VR Dakshin to bear the 

costs of construction of retention wall along with any incidental expenses and the same is refundable by OPPL. In view of above 

arrangement, the Company had incurred expenditure towards the construction of retention wall amounting to Rs. 152.09 million and 

the Company has further given bank guarantee of Rs. 96.73 million in favour of Chennai Metropolitan Development Authority on 

behalf of OPPL. The Company had demanded for the payment of the said amount during the year ended March 31, 2019. 

 
The Company was finalising a plan to recover the above amount through transfer of certain units in the residential project of OPPL 

by OPPL and accordingly the Company, during the year ended March 31, 2021 had obtained possession of certain units pending for 

registration. During the year ended March 31, 2023, the Company has issued notice for execution of registration and possession of 

remaining units. Based on Company's future plans the said amount has been classified under capital advances. 

 
Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2023, National Company Law Tribunal (‘NCLT’), Chennai has ordered corporate 

insolvency resolution process against OPPL and accordingly the Company has filed its claims in the capacity of financial creditor 

and is confident of recovering their claims. Pending resolution process, these advances are classified as good and recoverable in the 

financial results by the Company. 
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32 Fair value measurements 
 

The carrying value of financial instruments by categories is as follows: 

(Rs. in millions) 

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

At Cost Fair value 

through 

profit or loss 

At Amortised 

Cost 

At Cost Fair value 

through 

profit or loss 

At Amortised 

Cost 

 
Financial assets 

      

Investments - 0.01 - - 0.01 - 

Trade receivables - - 178.43 - - 240.03 

Cash and cash equivalents - - 77.18 - - 91.99 

Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents - - 331.68 - - 338.99 

Other financials assets - - 196.10 - - 257.00 

Total - 0.01 783.39 - 0.01 928.00 

 
Financial liabilities 

      

Borrowings - - 13,196.71 - - 13,657.25 

Lease Liability - - 46.03   46.17 

Trade payables - - 438.61 - - 262.07 

Other financial liabilities - - 3,843.74 - - 3,057 

Total - - 17,525.09 - - 17,022.13 
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Fair value hierarchy 

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Company’s assets and liabilities 

(Rs. in millions) 

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

Carrying 

amount 

Fair value Carrying 

amount 

Fair value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets         

Measured at cost/ amortised cost/fair value         

through profit and loss         

Investments at cost 0.01 - - 0.01 0.01 - - 0.01 

Trade receivables 178.43 - - 178.43 240.03 - - 240.03 

Cash and cash equivalents 77.18 - - 77.18 91.99 - - 91.99 

Bank balance other than cash and cash 331.68 - - 331.68 338.99 - - 338.99 

equivalents         

Other financials assets 196.10 - - 196.10 257.00 - - 257.00 

783.40 - - 783.40 928.02 - - 928.02 

 
Assets for which fair value are disclosed 

        

Investment properties 11,665.82 - - 23,648.00 11,939.56 - - 23,871.00 

11,665.82 - - 23,648.00 11,939.56 - - 23,871.00 

Financial liabilities 
        

Measured at amortised cost         

Borrowings 13,196.71 - - 13,196.71 13,657.25 - - 13,657.25 

Lease Liabilities 46.03   46.03 46.17   46.17 

Trade payables 438.61 - - 438.61 262.07 - - 262.07 

Other financial liabilities 3,843.74 - - 3,843.74 3,056.65 - - 3,056.65 
 17,525.09 - - 17,525.09 17,022.13 - - 17,022.13 

Notes: 

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date. 

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

There have been no transfers between the levels during the period. 

Financial instruments carried at amortised cost such as trade receivables, other financial assets, borrowings, trade payables and other financial liabilities are considered to be same as 

their fair values, due to short term nature. 

For financial assets & liabilities that are measured at fair value, the carrying amounts are equal to the fair values. 
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33 Financial risk management objectives and policies 

 

The Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise borrowings, trade and other payables. The main purpose of these financial 

liabilities is to finance and support Company's operations. The Company’s principal financial assets include trade and other 

receivables and cash and cash equivalents that derive directly from its operations. 

 
The Company is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s senior management oversees the management 

of these risks. The Company’s senior management is supported by a financial risk committee that advises on financial risks and the 

appropriate financial risk governance framework for the Company. The financial risk committee provides assurance to the 

Company’s senior management that the Company’s financial risk activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and 

that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with the Company’s policies and risk objectives. The Board 

of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below. 

 
 

A Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices. Market risk comprises two types of risk: interest rate risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and commodity risk. 

Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans, borrowings and security deposits. 

 

The sensitivity analysis in the following sections relate to the position as at March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022. The sensitivity 

analyses have been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt, the ratio of fixed to floating interest rates of the debt are all 

constant. 

 
The analysis exclude the impact of movements in market variables on: the carrying values of gratuity and other post retirement 

obligations and provisions. 

 
The below assumption has been made in calculating the sensitivity analysis: 

The sensitivity of the relevant profit or loss item is the effect of the assumed changes in respective market risks. This is based on the 

financial assets and financial liabilities held at March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022. 

 

a. Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 

market interest rates. The Company's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Company's long 

term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 
 

The Company manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate loans and borrowings. The 

Company does not enter into any interest rate swaps. 

Interest rate sensitivity 
 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and 

borrowings affected. With all other variables held constant, the Company’s loss before tax is affected through the impact on floating 

rate borrowings, as follows: 

(Rs. in millions) 

 Increase/ 

decrease in 
interest rate 

Effect on loss 

before tax 

March 31, 2023 

INR 

 
 

+1% 

 
 

82.18 

INR -1% (82.18) 

March 31, 2022 

INR 

 

+1% 

 

87.87 

INR -1% (87.87) 
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B Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a 

financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its 

investing activities (short term bank deposits). Credit appraisal is performed by the management before lease agreements are entered 

into with customers. The risk is also mitigated due to customers placing significant amount of security deposits for lease and fit-out 

rentals. 

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Company’s treasury department in accordance 

with the Company’s policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits 

assigned to each counterparty. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the Company’s Board of Directors on an annual basis, and 

may be updated throughout the year subject to approval of the Company’s Finance Committee. The limits are set to minimise the 

concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through a counterparty’s potential failure to make payments. The 

Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial position at March 31, 2023 and March 

31, 2022 is the carrying amounts. 

 

C Liquidity risk 
 

The Company's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank deposits and 

loans. 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments: 
 

 

On demand Less than 3 

months 

(Rs. in millions) 

3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 

 

 

Year ended March 31, 2023 

 

Borrowings 

Interest payable on 

borrowings 

Trade payables 

Lease Liabilities 

Other financial liabilities 

 

 
 

Year ended March 31, 2022 
 

Borrowings 295.54 151.10 481.01 4,306.55 8,423.05 13,657.25 

Interest payable on 

borrowings 

- 71.34 751.61 2,435.74 4,224.64 7,483.32 

Trade payables - 231.82 - 30.24 - 262.07 

Lease Liabilities - 0.01 0.13 4.29 41.74 46.17 

Other financial liabilities 551.57 10.37 3.62 1,856.87 634.22 3,056.65 

 847.11 464.64 1,236.36 8,633.69 13,323.65 24,505.46 

331.39 179.07 538.73 4,842.39 7,305.13 13,196.71 

- 71.34 767.21 2,212.80 3,831.27 6,882.61 

- 295.21 - 143.40 - 438.61 

- 0.08 0.37 6.17 39.40 46.03 

1,422.72 77.09 20.11 2,308.10 15.72 3,843.73 

1,754.11 622.78 1,326.41 9,512.86 11,191.52 24,407.69 
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34 Capital management 
 

For the purpose of the Company’s capital management, capital includes issued equity capital, share premium and all other equity 

reserves attributable to the equity holders of the Company. The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to 

maximise the shareholder value. 

 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the requirements 

of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment to 

shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net 

debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Company includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings, trade and 

other payables, less cash and cash equivalents. 

(Rs. in millions) 
 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

 

Borrowings (long-term and short-term, including current maturities of long term 

borrowings) (Note 13) 

 
13,196.71 

 
13,657.25 

Trade payables (Note 19) 438.61 262.07 

Other payables (current and non-current, excluding current maturities of long term 

borrowings) (Note 14 & 15) 

3,948.68 3,167.57 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 10) (77.18) (91.99) 

Net debt 17,506.83 16,994.89 

Equity share capital (Note 11) 0.20 0.20 

Other equity (Note 12) (4,432.78) (3,498.63) 

Total capital (4,432.59) (3,498.43) 

Capital and net debt 13,074.24 13,496.46 

 
Gearing ratio 

 
133.90% 

 
125.92% 

 
In order to achieve this overall objective, the Company's capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets 

financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in 

meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. There have been no breaches in the 

financial covenants of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing in the current year. 

 
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended March 31, 2023 and 

March 31, 2022. 

 

35 Going concern 

 
The accumulated losses of the Company as of March 31, 2023 have exceeded its paid up capital and reserves. The Company has 

incurred net loss for the year ended March 31, 2023 and the Company's current liabilities exceeded its current assets as at that date 

indicating uncertainty about company’s ability to continue as going concern. However, the Company has obtained a support letter 

from its Parent indicating that the Parent will take necessary actions to organize for any shortfall in liquidity during the period of 12 

months from the balance sheet date. Based on the above, the Company is confident of its ability to meet the funds requirement and to 

continue its business as a going concern and accordingly, the financial results have been prepared on that basis. 
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36 Standards issued but not effective 

 

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Companies (Indian Accounting Standard) Amendment Rules 2022 dated March 23, 

2022 to amend the following Ind AS which are effective from April 01, 2023: 

 
(i) Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to Ind AS 8 

The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies and the 

correction of errors. It has also been clarified how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023 and apply to changes in accounting 

policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. 

 
(ii) Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to Ind AS 1 

The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for 

entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and 

adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures. 

The amendments to Ind AS 1 are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023. Consequential amendments have 

been made in Ind AS 107. 

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company's financial statements 
 

37 Disclosures required under section 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 

(Rs. in millions) 

Particulars 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 

(i) Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of accounting year. 14.41 16.59 

(ii) Interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of the accounting - - 

year.   

(iii) The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of the Micro, Small - - 

and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (27 of 2006), along with the amount of   

the payment made to the supplier beyond appointed day during each accounting year.   

(iv) The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment - - 

(which has been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but without adding the   

interest specified under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act,   

2006.   

(v) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting year. - - 

(vi) The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding - - 

years, until such date when the interest dues above are actually paid to the small   

enterprise, for the purpose of disallowance of a deductible expenditure under section 23 of   

the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006.   

 

Dues to Micro and Small Enterprises have been determined to the extent such parties have been identified on the basis of 

information collected by the management. 
 

38 Forward contracts entered for the purpose of hedging, which were outstanding as on March 31, 2023 is Nil (March 31, 2022 -Nil). 

Unhedged foreign currency exposure as on March 31, 2023 is Nil (March 31, 2022 -Nil). 
 

39 Transfer pricing 

 
As per the transfer pricing rules prescribed under the Income-tax Act, 1961, the Company is examining the domestic and 

international transactions and documentation in respect thereof to ensure compliance with the said rules. The management does not 

anticipate any material adjustment with regard to the transactions involved. 
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40 Code of Social Security 
 

The Code on Social Security, 2020 (‘Code’) relating to employee benefits during employment and post-employment benefits received 

Presidential assent in September 2020. The Code has been published in the Gazette of India. However, the date on which the Code 

will come into effect has not been notified and the final rules/interpretation have not yet been issued. The Company will assess the 

impact of the Code when it comes into effect and will record any related impact in the period the Code becomes effective. 

 

41 The Company maintains proper books of account electronically as required by law. The server and the back up sever used for the 

maintenance of books and accounts are located outside India currently. The Company would initiate the necessary steps as regards 

the necessary compliance with Rule 3 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (as amended) with respect to maintenance of back 

ups in servers physically located in India on daily basis. 

 
42   Ratio Analysis amd its elements  

 
Sl.N 

Ratio Numerator Denominator 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 %change 
o 

Reason for 

variance ( > 

25% change) 

1 Current ratio Current Assets Current Liabilities 0.25 0.37 -32% Refer Note (a) 

 
2 Debt- Equity Ratio 

 
3 Debt Service Coverage 

Total Debt 

Profit/(Loss) before tax 

 
Shareholder’s 

Equity 

Finance cost + 

 
(2.98) 

 
0.30 

 
(3.90) 

 
0.31 

 
-24% 

 
-3% 

ratio 

 

 
4 Return on Equity ratio 

+ Depreciation 

and amortization + 

Finance cost 

Net profit/(loss) 

Principal repayment 

 

 
Average 

 

 

 
0.24 

 

 

 
0.32 

 

 

 
-26% Refer Note (b) 

 

 
5 Inventory Turnover ratio 

 

 
Cost of goods sold 

Shareholder’s 

Equity 

Average Inventory 

 

 
1.59 

 

 
0.92 

 

 
73% Refer Note (c) 

6 Trade Receivable 

Turnover Ratio 

7 Trade Payable Turnover 

Revenue from 

operations 

Other expenses - 

Average Trade 

Receivable 

Average Trade 

9.47 

 
2.54 

6.81 

 
2.15 

39% Refer Note (d) 

 
18% 

Ratio 

 

 

 
8 Net Capital Turnover 

Expected credit loss 

for trade 

receivables and 

contract assets 

Revenue from 

Payables 

 

 

 
Working capital = 

 

 

 

 
(0.85) 

 

 

 

 
(1.07) 

 

 

 

 
-21% 

Ratio 

 
9 Net Profit ratio 

operations 

 
Net profit/(loss) 

Current assets – 

Current liabilities 

Revenue from 

 

 
(0.47) 

 

 
(0.56) 

 

 
-16% 

 
10 Return on Capital 

 
Profit/(Loss) before tax 

operations 

Shareholder's equity 

 
7% 

 
6% 

 
23% 

Employed + Finance cost + Total debt + 

Deferred tax 

liability 

   

 
11 

 
Return on Investment 

 

Interest (Finance 

Income)-FD interest 

 
FD-Investment Not applicable 

 

 

 

 
Notes 

(a) Variance is mainly due to increase in interest payable in relation to FCCD 

(b) Variance is mainly due to continued losses in current year. 

(c) Consumption has increased due to increase in Hotel operations. 

(d) Variance is mainly due to decrease in Trade receivable. 
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43 Other statutory informations 
 

(i) The Company do not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against the Company for 

holding any Benami property. 

(ii) The Company do not have any transactions with companies struck off. 

(iii) The Company do not have any charges or satisfaction which is yet to be registered with ROC beyond the statutory period. 

(iv) The Company have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year. 

(v) The Company have not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities 

(Intermediaries) with the understanding that the Intermediary shall: 

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 

company (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or 

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries 

(vi) The Company have not received any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the 

understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Company shall: 

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 

Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or 

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries, 

(vii) The Company have not any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or 

disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any 

other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961) 

(viii) The Company is not a declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or any other lender. 

 

As per our report of even date 
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